
Wheatbelt Development Commission
Annual Report

2012 - 2013





Contents

Statement of Compliance           5

Overview            7
From the Chairman           9

Operational Structure            11
Responsible Minister           11
Enabling Legislation           11
Objects and Functions           11
Organisational Structure         12
Board            13
Board Working Parties           15
Structure and Staff          16

Performance Management Framework         17
Linking to Government Goals          18
Key Services            18

Commission Achievements 2012 - 2013         19

Significant Issues Impacting the Wheatbelt Development Commission     28

Wheatbelt Outlook for 2013 - 2014          31 

Commission Grants            32

Statement of Performance           33

Performance Summary           34
Report on Operations          34
Relationships to Government Goals         34
Resource Agreement            35
Key Performance Indicators         36
Key Efficiency Indicators          36
Comparative Efficiency Indicator Figures 2012/2013       37
Comparative Efficiency Indicator Figures 2011/2012      37



Legal Requirements           38
Advertising            38
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes       39
Access to Buildings and Facilities        39
Human Resource Management Standards        39
Public Sector Standards and Code of Ethics       39
Compliance with Public Sector Management Action Section 31 (1)     40
Reporting on Record Keeping Plans         41
Freedom of Information          41
Occupational Health and Safety        42
Statement of Compliance         42
Report of Annual Performance 2012 - 2013        42
Flexible Working Arrangements        42
Ministerial Directives           42
Evaluations            42

Certificate of Financial Statements         44

Certificate of Compliance           45

Comprehensive Income           48

Financial Position           49

Changes in Equity            50

Cash Flow Statement           51

Notes to the Financial Statements          52



Statement of Compliance
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Hon Brendon Grylls MLA
Minister for Regional Development
In accordance with Section 66 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information 
and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Wheatbelt Development Commission for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2013.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 
2006.

Tim Shackleton  Wendy Newman
Chair of the Board  Chief Executive Officer
11 September 2013        11 September 2013



Wheatbelt Facts Facts
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• $2.7 billion dollars generated from mineral production
• 605,700 international and domestic visitors to the Wheatbelt 

in 2012
• 88% of WA’s olive production comes from our region
• Longest running windsurfing marathon in the world is held 

in Lancelin
• 40,000kms of roads across the Wheatbelt
• 49% of WA’s total citrus fruit production value
• 81 public and private schools
• $565M investment with the Southern Inland Health Initiative
• 2.5% unemployment rate, 3rd lowest in WA

Sea Lion off Wheatbelt Coast



Overview

While 2013 has seen a slowing in the Western Australian economy, high levels of inward migration are still 
driving an expected population increase to 4.3 million by 2056. With nearly 25 percent predicted to move to 
regional WA, the Wheatbelt is ideally placed to play a key role in accommodating this growth. Proximity to 
Perth, existing key transport and infrastructure corridors, land availability, natural assets and proven regional 
capacity are some of the comparative advantages of the Wheatbelt identified by decision makers when 
making their choice to live, work, invest and visit.

The Commission remains committed to maximising this potential through a range of initiatives. While specific 
strategic priorities and achievements are highlighted on page 19 of this report, the work of the Commission 
has focused on the following themes:
•	 Planning, Partnership and Engagement – 

development in the region has been facilitated by 
strong partnerships across levels of government, 
government agencies and organisations within 
and external to the region. Specific examples 
include:

• The Commission’s continued undertaking a series 
of sub regional economic planning activities 
across the Avon, Central Midlands, Central East 
and Wheatbelt South sub regions, partnering with 
RPS Group consulting, local government and 
private enterprise.

• The Regional Investment Blueprint process 
being undertaken will underpin regional planning 
for future economic and population growth.  The 
first stage of the Regional Investment Blueprint 
process included a stock take of current regional 
assets and planning to identify gaps for further 
analysis.

• In partnership with Regional Development 
Australia (RDA) Wheatbelt the Commission held 
another successful “Friends of the Wheatbelt” 
Dinner. The theme this year was “The World Loves 
the Wheatbelt: Global Opportunities”, highlighting 
the Wheatbelt’s connection to the Asia Highway.

• Partnering with Jurien Bay and Northam to 
finalise the SuperTowns Growth Plans, these 
were endorsed and launched at the end of 2012.

• Aged Care Planning continues to be a strong 
focus of the Commission, with the Central East 
Wheatbelt Aged Support and Care Regional 
Solutions Report (CEWASCRS) completed with 

recommendations now being implemented.  
Whole of Wheatbelt Aged Care Planning - 
Wheatbelt Integrated Aged Support and Care 
Solution/s (WIASCS) project is due for completion 
at the end of 2013.  The Commission is also 
undertaking, on behalf of all nine Commissions, 
the State Wide Ageing in the Bush project. This 
project will identify aged care solution/s for 
regional Western Australia.

• The continuation of extensive regional 
infrastructure planning process through the 
Royalties for Regions Country Local Government 
Regional Infrastructure Fund.  This engagement 
process involved 43 local government authorities 
(LGAs), resulting in the identification of regional 
infrastructure projects and whole of region 
infrastructure priorities identified in the report 
Towards a Wheatbelt Infrastructure Plan (3) 2013. 

  
• Through significant opportunities arising 

from the Wheatbelt Infrastructure Trust 
Forum held in October of 2012, both Avon 
Regional  Organisations of Council (AROC) 
and Central Midlands Voluntary Organisations 
of Council (CMVROC) have commenced 
more comprehensive investigation into the 
establishment of such initiatives.

• This year the Commission was commended by 
the Public Sector Commission for our Graduate 
Program. This program provides us with the 
opportunity to build stronger relationships with 
our higher education institutions, and ensures the 
continued connection of regional development 
with ongoing research activities.
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Maximising	benefit	of	Royalties	for	Regions	programs - considerable Commission capacity has gone 
into ensuring that Royalties for Regions programs address identified priority developmental issues in the 
Wheatbelt and regional WA.  The Commission has striven to ‘add value’ to programs such as the Country 
Local Government Regional Infrastructure Planning and the Regional Centres Development Program 
(SuperTowns).  This value adding has occurred in a myriad of ways, including the work the Commission 
project team does ‘on the ground’ to advise proponents, facilitate cross agency and organisation co-operation 
and to the rigorous process the Board has established to consider the applications before it.
 
The Commission looks forward to continuing to work with stakeholders to deliver on the Wheatbelt’s enormous 
potential.  As the State’s third most populous region, bordering the metropolitan area to the north and east, 
the Wheatbelt will continue to play a key role in WA’s forecast population growth.  The region is also the 
State’s largest agricultural producer and is therefore well placed to capitalise on the growing global demand 
for food.



From the Chairman

Looking back over 
my first twelve 
months as Chair, 
I am pleased with 
the achievements 
of the Commission 
and confident that 
more can and will 
be achieved in the 
future.

The last financial 
year has seen 
the Commission 
strongly committed 

to important planning projects that will identify and 
prioritise opportunities for the region’s growth.  This 
planning has included:

•	 Sub regional economic planning, initially for 
the Central Coast and Avon sub regions as part 
of the SuperTowns projects for Jurien Bay and 
Northam, and then extending across the Central 
Midlands, Central East and Wheatbelt South.

 
•	 Aged Care Planning, with the Board and 

Commission staff playing a leading role for the 
Wheatbelt and broader regional WA.  Identifying 
the barriers to country people being able to age 
comfortably in their communities and finding 
solutions to these will continue to be a major 
focus of the Commission.  This work began with 
the Central East Aged Care Alliance, the launch 
of the Central East Wheatbelt Aged Support and 
Care Regional Solutions report in April, and the 
roll out of the Wheatbelt Integrated Aged Support 
and Care Solutions project across the region.  

 
• All of these planning activities will contribute to 

the development of the Wheatbelt Regional 
Investment Blueprint to be launched in early 
2014, which will be the overarching aspirational 
plan for the region, identifying targets for 
economic and population growth.  

 
The Commission has also been strongly committed 
to delivering projects ‘on the ground’. Specifically, the 
Commission has:

• Supported Wheatbelt local governments in 
preparing submissions for strategic regional 
projects funding through the Country Local 
Government Fund. This resulted in 15 projects 
valued at over $16 million being submitted. These 
proposals mainly focus on housing and sport and 
recreation infrastructure;

• Played a key role in the Avon Water Re-use 
project, ensuring water will flow to the Northam 
race track this summer; and 

• Supported the Shires of Dandaragan and Northam 
in the implementation of their SuperTowns 
projects.

 
The Commission also played an active role in many 
regional initiatives during the year, particularly in the 
areas of health, transport and marketing the positive 
attributes of the region. We look forward to our 
continued active involvement in the Wheatbelt Health 
MOU Group and further developing our partnerships 
with the WA Country Health Service’s Wheatbelt 
Region and Southern Inland Health Initiative. 
 
During the year, I was pleased to be the Commission’s 
representative on the Regional Development Council, 
and through this forum promote the interests of the 
Wheatbelt and the regions generally.
 
As Chair, I would like to express my gratitude to the 
Commission’s Board, CEO and staff for their hard 
work and support. I congratulate all of them on their 
strong commitment to making the Wheatbelt a better 
place to live and work.
 
Finally, I wish to acknowledge and thank Minister 
Brendon Grylls MLA for his continued commitment to 
the Wheatbelt.

Tim Shackleton
Chairman
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“Positioning the 
Wheatbelt to contribute 

to the State’s growth agenda”

Indian Ocean Drive



Operational Structure

Responsible Minister 
Hon Brendon Grylls MLA
Minister for Regional Development

Enabling Legislation
The Wheatbelt Development Commission, a Western Australian Statutory Authority and State Government 
Agency, was established in 1993 under the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993.  It is one of nine 
Commissions governed by the same legislation.

Objects and Functions 
Under the Regional Development Commission Act 1993, the objects and functions of the Commission are 
to: 

• maximise job creation and improve career opportunities in the region;
• develop and broaden the economic base of the region;
• identify infrastructure services to promote business development within the region;
• provide information and advice to promote business development within the 

region;
• seek to ensure that the general standard of government services and 

access to those services in the region is comparable to that which 
applies in the metropolitan area; and

• generally take steps to encourage, promote, facilitate and monitor 
the economic development of the region.

For the purpose of achieving these objectives, the Commission is to:
• promote the region;
• facilitate co-ordination between relevant statutory bodies and state 

government agencies;
• co-operate with representatives of industry and commerce, employer 

and employee organisations, education and training institutions and 
other sections of the community within the region;

• identify opportunities for investment in the region and encourage that 
investment;

• identify infrastructure needs of the region and encourage 
the provision of that infrastructure in the region; and

• co-operate with departments of the Public Service of 
the State and the Commonwealth, and other agencies, 
instrumentalities and statutory bodies of the State and 
Commonwealth, and local government authorities, in 
order to promote equitable delivery of services within 
the region.
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This financial year saw the appointment of Mr Graham Cooper, Ms Valerie Ammon, Ms Carmel Ross and Mr 
Anthony Nottle to the board.  The Commission saw the departure of Mr Darren West, Mr Paul Tomlinson, Ms 
Tracy Meredith and Mr Shane Love. The Commission thanks them for their commitment to the Wheatbelt 
during their terms on the Wheatbelt Development Commission Board.

Board

KARIN DAY, DEPUTY CHAIR
COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2011 (first term)

Karin’s background is in agriculture and regional development; she is 
passionate about the future of regional Western Australia.  Karin farms in 
South Burracoppin with her family and is the Deputy Shire President on 
the Westonia Shire Counci.  Karin is involved in many local community, 
sporting and fundraising groups. 

TONY BOYLE, MEMBER
LOCAL GOVERNMENT REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2006 (second term)
Tony runs a mixed farming enterprise having a focus on prime lamb production 
(with his wife and two sons). Tony brings a wealth of business and local 
government experience to the Board, having served as a councillor with the 
Shire of York for 4 years and is the current Shire President.

TIM SHACKLETON, CHAIR
MINISTERIAL REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2011 (first term)
Tim was raised and schooled in Katanning. He then went on to complete a Batchelor 
degree in Human Movement and a Post Graduate Diploma in Health Administration. 
Tim has worked in the country health sector for the past 15 years including Regional 
Director of WACHS – Wheatbelt and as Chief Executive Officer of the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service.  Tim has recently left full time employment to start his own health service 
consulting business and brings a wealth of health industry knowledge which assists the 
improvement service delivery in the Wheatbelt region.

13



STEVE POLLARD, MEMBER
LOCAL GOVERNMENT REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2011 (first term)
Steve is currently the Northam Shire President and a part time financial 
accountant. Steve has sat on several local boards and committees including 
Essential Personnel and CY O’Connor Institute. As an accountant and small 
business owner, Steve has firsthand knowledge of the opportunities and 
challenges facing business in the region.

LEIGH BALLARD, MEMBER
COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2011 (first term)

Leigh is the owner of business Ballard Seeds which is located in Narrogin. Over the past 
eight years he and his wife Sara have grown and diversified the business. Leigh was 
an inaugural graduate of the Grow Zone mentoring programme, President of Narrogin 
Chamber of Commerce as well as a member of several local community groups. Leigh is 
passionate about his community and about improving business within it.

VALERIE AMMON
LOCAL GOVERNMENT REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2012 (first term)
Valerie is a resident of Lancelin and is currently a Councillor with the Shire of 
Gingin and has experience as a small business owner.  With a background as 
a qualified psychologist, Val has extensive experience in the areas of mental 
health and drug and alcohol abuse.  Valerie has particular interests in refugee 
issues, aged care, accommodation and tourism.

GRAHAM COOPER
MINISTERIAL REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2012 (first term)

Graham currently operates Farmways in Cunderdin as a joint venture partnership with 
Elders Rural Services.  Graham has served as a Councillor with the Cunderdin Shire, 
including six years as Shire President, and has held varied community positions.  He is 
currently working with the South East Avon Regional Group looking at local government 
reform.

14



TONY NOTTLE
MINISTERIAL REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2012 (first term)
Tony was born and raised on the family farm in the Wheatbelt town of Cuballing.  
He currently lives and works in Jurien Bay and is the Chief Executive Officer 
for the Shire of Dandaragan.  Tony has been involved in local government for 
over 11 years and is Chair of the Coastal Midlands Local Government Managers 
Association (WA) and a member of the RDA Wheatbelt Board.

CARMEL ROSS
COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIVE appointed 2012 (first term)

Carmel lives in Bindoon on a farm that comprises of a commercial vineyard and organic 
beef production.  She is a psychologist by profession and has many years of management 
experience mostly in education, tourism and community organisations. Carmel runs a 
consultancy business and until recently was the CEO at the Benedictine Community of New 
Norcia. Carmel is Chair of the board of Catholic Agricultural College Bindoon and a member 
of the Heartlands WA board.

WENDY NEWMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Wendy is the Director of the Commission, and brings to the position a range 
of professional experiences across the areas of education, organisational 
development, human resource management, marketing and regional 
development. Wendy has been a member of numerous boards and advisory 
bodies for government and the not for profit sector at a national, state and local 
level.

Board Working Parties

To facilitate the work of the Board, the following working parties have been established:
• Planning and Infrastructure:  Regional Planning, Water, Energy, Telecommunications, Transport.
• Service Delivery Reform:  Health, Education, Aged Care, Local Government, Child Care, 

Community Services.
• Finance, Audit and Risk Management:  Monitors the financial performance of the organisation.
• Marketing: Tourism, Communication, Networking

Each Working Party is supported by staff with portfolio responsibility.

15



Performance Management FrameworkStructure and Staff

Avon Development Unit (ADU)
Established to manage considerable growth in 
the Avon sub region, the ADU has overseen the 
developmental impacts of the Northam SuperTowns 
initiative, the Avon Water Re-use project, the Avon 
Sub Regional Economic Strategy planning and is 
continually working with regional groups to build 
external capacity. The ADU also has responsibility 
for overseeing portfolio areas of Land Development, 
SuperTowns and Workforce Planning.

The ADU is managed by Director Regional Services, 
Grant Arthur, who oversees the work of Senior 
Regional Officer (Avon), Janine Hatch, a research 
team of Elise Woods, Georgina Millar, David Kelly and 
part time students Chelsea Kerr and Claire Evans. 
Specialist expertise has been procured as required to 
ensure efficient and effective program delivery.

Regional Development Unit (RDU) 
This unit facilitates development in the other four 
sub regions – Coast, Central Midlands, Central East 
and Wheatbelt South. This unit has responsibilities 
for the portfolio areas of: Health, Aged Care, Local 
Government, Tourism, Planning and Infrastructure 
Development (water, power, transport, and 
telecommunications).

The RDU is jointly managed by Regional Managers 
Pip Gooding (Wheatbelt South) and Phillipa Kirby 
(Central East). Their team comprises Senior Regional 
Officer Central Midlands, Rebecca Kelly and 
Research Officers, Chelsea Mott, Kylie Whitehead, 
Hannah Thornton and Lauren Clarke.

Executive Services Unit (ESU) 
Developed to provide strategic and executive support 
to the Board, CEO and Director, Regional Services, 
the ESU oversees support to the ADU and Royalties 
for Regions (part time staff, Kerri Wallace and Margie 

Hanly), project management, marketing (Carol 
Redford), Board and stakeholder management 
(Teresa Drew and Anita Swift). This Unit also provides 
support to the Avon Industrial Park Advisory Board.

Corporate Services Unit 
This unit provides financial, human resources and 
purchasing services to the Board and staff. The unit 
is staffed by Manager of Financial and Corporate 
Services, Norm Brierley, and Finance and Corporate 
Services Officer, Beth Falconer. Due to the loss of 
funding to administer the remaining Royalties for 
Regions grants, the administration duties are now 
undertaken by the Finance and Corporate Services 
Officer.

Chief	Executive	Officer	
Wendy Newman provides leadership and oversight 
of the organisation and ensures organisational 
effectiveness through the Strategic Operational 
Plan for the organisation, an integrated performance 
management system linked to this plan and a strong 
staff engagement and development strategy through 
the Project Team structure.

To meet the needs of a highly dispersed region, the Wheatbelt Development Commission delivers its 
services through offices located in Northam, Moora, Merredin and Narrogin.  The following units deliver the 
Commission’s priorities.

16



Performance Management Framework

Strategic Intent 
The Wheatbelt is a key contributor to the State’s prosperity. The Wheatbelt Development Commission exists 
to partner, plan, facilitate and promote development that results in the Wheatbelt being a place of choice to 
live, work, visit and invest.

Strategic Priorities and Outcomes

1. Service Delivery Reform
Key Outcome: Improved facilities and services appropriate to the State’s (and thus the region’s) 
future needs.
Key Strategy: Using the comparative advantage framework to inform service delivery reform in 
the areas of health, education, aged care, children’s services and local government.

2. Industry Development
Key Outcome: A diversified industry base that is aligned to state, national and international 
opportunity.
Key Strategy: Sound information, planning and partnerships to maximise opportunity.

3. Infrastructure Development
Key Outcome: Appropriate infrastructure (economic and social) is in place to maximise 
comparative advantage (resources, capacities) of the region’s existing and potential industries 
and communities.
Key Strategy: Identifying and prioritising policy and process changes and projects that are 
required to provide context appropriate solutions.

4. Governance
Key Outcome: Internal and external structures, policy and processes maximise benefit to the 
region/s.
Key Strategy: A process of continuous improvement.

5. Environment Management
Key Outcome: Environmental sustainability underpins economic and social planning for the 
region.
Key Strategy: Input into strategy of Northern Agricultural Catchment Council and the Wheatbelt 
Natural Resource Management (NRM).

17



Commission Achievements
2012-2013

Linking to the Regional Strategic Planning Framework
The Commission’s Strategic Intent and Priorities are consistent with outcomes, priorities and strategies 
outlined in the Wheatbelt Strategic Framework as endorsed by the Minister for Regional Development. 
Priorities identified in this regional plan are reflected in strategies outlined in the Wheatbelt Development 
Commission’s Strategic Operational Plan 2012-13. The delivery of the priorities identified in this plan are 
monitored through the CEO’s Performance Management Plan and Review.

Linking to Government Goals
In fulfilling its Statutory Objectives and Functions, the Commission is committed to a ‘whole of government’ 
approach to regional development to enhance its contribution toward meeting the Five Government Goals:

•	 State	Building	–	Major	Projects - Building strategic infrastructure that will create jobs and underpin 
Western Australia’s long-term economic development.

•	 Financial	 and	 Economic	 Responsibility - Responsibly managing the State’s finances through the 
efficient and effective delivery of services and encouraging economic activity and reducing regulatory 
burdens on the private sector.

•	 Outcomes	Based	Service	Delivery - Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for 
the benefit of all Western Australians.

•	 Stronger	 Focus	 on	 the	Regions - Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve the overall quality of life in remote and regional areas.

•	 Social	and	Environmental	Responsibility - Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially 
and environmentally responsible manner for the long-term benefit of the Region and the State.

Key Services
The Commission provides two key services to government business and community groups to enable it to 
meet identified targets and ultimately the achievement of sustainable regional development for the Wheatbelt 
region:

• Information and Promotion Services
• Facilitation Services

18



Commission Achievements
2012-2013

The Commission continues to engage with strategic partners to plan and deliver outcomes to meet the 
State’s development opportunities by growing the region’s economy and population. The Commission’s 
achievements in this financial year are identified within the Wheatbelt Strategic Framework’s identified 
priority areas.

VIBRANT ECONOMY

Outcome:	A	diversified	and	adaptive	economic	base	building	on	the	region’s	assets	and	
aligned with state, national and international opportunity;

With strategic partnerships with LandCorp and 
economic consultancy RPS Group, the Commission 
has undertaken a series of sub regional economic 
planning activities across the Wheatbelt. This 
process, coupled with extensive stakeholder 
engagement, has achieved considerable tangible 
outcomes for the region during this financial year. The 
most significant of these is the endorsement of the 
Avon Sub Regional Economic Plan. This was the first 
in a series of plans being undertaken for the Central 
Midlands, Central East and Wheatbelt South sub 
regions. These plans have enabled the Commission 
to work in a co-ordinated way with key stakeholders 
to identify priority drivers and actions for economic 
and population growth.

Avon Development – the consolidation of the Avon 
Development Unit (ADU) in the last financial year has 
created significant in-house and external capacity to 
create opportunity and facilitate growth in the Avon 
Sub region.

The ADU has concentrated on building the capacity 
of regional groups to support ongoing development. 
Examples include support to Directions Workforce 
Solutions (Inc) on the development of a workforce 
development centre and assisting Avon Youth to 
provide support for the Northam Elders Group. The 
ADU has also continued supporting the Northam 
Chamber of Commerce and Heartlands WA to 
facilitate business alliances across the Avon.

The ADU has begun implementation of the findings 
of the Avon Sub Regional Economic Strategy. This 

included developing a partnership with LandCorp 
to assess the light industry land needs in the Avon. 
While the funding for ADU ceased by 30 June 2013, 
the work undertaken with key stakeholders will 
see continued results into 2013-14. The WDC will 
continue to seek funds for new initiatives in the Avon 
area.

Tourism - with the second highest day-visitor 
numbers in regional WA, the Wheatbelt’s growth and 
development of Tourism has increased significantly 
over the last year. Employment of a Research 
and Project Officer for two years from March 2012 
facilitated this activity.

Diverse product development, capacity building and 
marketing activity included:

• Capacity building for local communities, local 
governments and Tourism operators – workshop 
presentations in 15 towns.

• Developing partnerships with stakeholders, 
government and Industry operators within and 
outside the Region.

• Creating new businesses and tours, fostering 
growth of existing activity and facilitating the 
establishment of new visitor centres.

• Generating and initiating six new community 
groups, town-specific and inter-Shire, devoted to 
multiple strategies which ensure an increase in 
visitor numbers.
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Aviation – ongoing development at Cunderdin, 
Wave Rock and Wyalkatchem airports through 
the Wheatbelt Regional Grants Scheme. The 
Commission continues to highlight to government 
and key stakeholders the significant opportunities 
offered by the region for the development of an 
aviation industry.

Agriculture – WDC has provided input into 
Department of Agriculture and Food WA (DAFWA) 
Agrifood 2025+ Strategy. Agrifood 2025+ focuses on 
the significant opportunity arising from the growing 
global demand for food combined with WA’s already 
significant agrifood export capacity. It also recognises 
that the sector as a whole is not currently in a position 
to realise this opportunity and aims to address this. 

Parts of the region have again been affected by 
adverse seasonal conditions during the growing 
season. WDC supports the delivery of programs to 
assist in ensuring the long term sustainability of the 
agricultural sector and increasing economic diversity 
in the region.

Horticulture – The key to horticultural industry 
development has been water allocation policy. The 
Commission keeps a watching brief on these issues 
and hopes to have them addressed through its water 
planning process.

DAFWA is a key instigator and continues to explore 
the issues associated with full water allocation 
around Moora, Dandaragan and Regans Ford. Whilst 
water efficiency has been integral in the development 
of the industry in the region, the current allocation 
threatens the expansion of the industry. It is expected 
that the formation of a WDC/DAFWA partnership will 
strengthen the development of ideas around water 
mapping, food processing and industry development. 
With transport, energy and workforce availability, 
the Commission will continue to advocate for the 
development of this industry diversification potential.

Blueprint Planning – Completed Stage 1 - WDC 
has commenced the process of developing a Regional 
Blueprint. The Wheatbelt Regional Investment 
Blueprint will articulate regional aspirations for 
economic and population growth and provide a 
framework for an integrated and comprehensive 
approach to regional development. The first Stage of 
this process included a stock take of current regional 
assets and planning to identify gaps for further 
analysis. This was completed in March 2013.

Economic Planning - Sub Regional & Growth 
Planning (links to Supertowns) - the Commission, 
in partnership with LandCorp and economic 

consultancy RPS Group has undertaken a series of 
sub regional economic planning activities across the 
Central Midlands, Central East and Wheatbelt South 
sub regions. Two documents are being produced 
within each Wheatbelt sub region:
• a Sub Regional Economic Strategy; and
• a Regional Centre Growth Plan.

Sub-Regional Economic Strategies: The purpose of 
these reports is to investigate how the communities 
in the sub-regions support each other as an 
economic unit as well as how aspirational population 
targets could be met into the future. RPS Group 
Economic consultants have continued to work with 
the Commission in providing the quantitive economic 
analysis. Local government and non local government 
stakeholder consultation has been a vital element of 
this process to ‘ground truth’ the economic findings 
and quantitive information.

Throughout this year the Commission has been 
carrying out local government interviews in the 
Central Coast, Central Midlands, Wheatbelt South 
and Central East regions. The Central Coast report is 
nearing completion with initial local government and 
non local government consultations completed and 
draft report in the final stages.

Regional Centres Growth Plan: This process is being 
carried out in partnership with WDC, LandCorp and 
local reference groups in order to produce three 
Regional Centre Growth Plans in the regional centres;

• Narrogin (Town of Narrogin, Shire of Narrogin, 
Shire of Cuballing)

• Moora/Dalwallinu/Wongan Hills (analysis is being 
done into how these three towns operate as a 
unit, each having different strengths but being 
similar in makeup)

• Merredin

The process, modelled on the SuperTowns Regional 
Growth Centre Planning and Avon Sub Regional 
Economic Strategy, is designed to provide a high level 
understanding of the economic and population drivers 
that will facilitate growth and attract government and 
private investment over the next fifty years.

Emerging Industry – enhancing music industry 
– the Western Australian Music Industry Association 
Inc (WAM) has attracted funding from the Wheatbelt 
Foundation Fund to implement a Sounds of the 
Wheatbelt project. WAM recognises music in the 
Wheatbelt as an emerging industry due to the large 
number and rich diversity of original artists in the 
region.
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Following on from WAM’s successful Wheatbelt 
touring circuit project, further funds will be sought 
to allow local artists to professionally record some 
of their works and to develop a showcase of local 
talent. The WDC has partnered closely with WAM 
throughout this process

Infrastructure Development – Infrastructure Trust 
Forum; AROC Infrastructure Trust, CMVROC 
Housing Trust - the Commission has been examining 
alternative governance structures across the region to 
maximise access to non-government funding for local 
infrastructure and economic development initiatives. 
The Commission continues to support exploration 
of the ‘Regional Investment Trust’ concept as an 
overarching vehicle to enable a flexible business-
based approach to the funding and management of 
non-government infrastructure and investment.

Significant opportunities arose from the Wheatbelt 
Infrastructure Trust Forum held in October of 2012. 
Both AROC and CMVROC have commenced 
the establishment of such initiatives. While state-
level funding has provided the major elements of 
infrastructure in regional WA, the challenge for local 
governments is to find innovative and sustainable 
ways to engage with external funders and private 
investors to deliver maximum result.

The Avon Development Unit has partnered with the 
AROC to develop a model for collaborative investment 
in this sub region. Legal and governance processes 
will be established in 2013-14 to facilitate future 
joint investment in regional projects. The WDC has 
worked with the Toodyay Bendigo Bank on analysis 
of the factors affecting collaborative investment for 
some time and they will be included in this process.

21

Wheatbelt Farm

Collgar Wind Farm in Merredin



SuperTowns – as part of the SuperTowns Program 
$4.8 million has been granted to Northam to develop 
the first stage of a new Avon Health and Community 
Services Precinct on the land adjacent to the 
existing Northam Regional Hospital site. Northam 
also received $3.65million for environmental 
improvements to the Avon River, specifically drainage 
and run off management associated with the Avon 
River Town Pool. Jurien Bay received $12.13 million 
to develop a visitor and community centre linked to 
the Jurien Bay City Centre Enhancement project and 
to undertake sewerage works in their town centre.

The Commission supported both Wheatbelt 
SuperTowns to finalise Growth Plans. These were 
launched at the end of 2012 and have been endorsed 
by the Western Australian Planning Commission and 
the Infrastructure Coordinating Committee.

Under a Memorandum of Understanding, the 
Wheatbelt Development Commission provided 
project management to the Shire of Dandaragan, 
prior to the appointment of a designated SuperTowns 
shire staff member.

The Commission attends monthly Steering Committee 
meetings for the Shire of Northam SuperTowns 
projects and is working with both local governments 
to progress unfunded priority project business cases.

South Inland Health Initiative (SIHI) – in its second 
year the $565 million SIHI program focussed on 
another two of the six streams; the Primary Health 
Care Demonstration Program ($43.3m) and Small 
Hospital and Nursing Post Refurbishment Program 
($108.8m). Pingelly and Cunderdin, two Wheatbelt 
communities, were selected for further consultation 
as part of the roll out of the Primary Health Care 
Demonstration program.

The Commission has partnered with SIHI, Wheatbelt 
local governments and Regional Development 
Australia (Wheatbelt) as part of the Wheatbelt 
Integrated Aged Support and Care Solutions 
project. This project takes into consideration SIHI’s 
implementation streams particularly the Primary 
Health Care Demonstration program which may 
inform the aged care recommendations for the 
Pingelly and Cunderdin communities.  

Digital Wheatbelt - The Commission has continued 
to support the Regional Mobile Communications 
Project (RMCP), which is being administered by the 
Department of Commerce, through the provision of 
local information and advice relevant to Wheatbelt 
specific issues. Under RMCP, Telstra has deployed to 
date an estimated 50% of new mobile communications 
infrastructure at the proposed 113 sites across the 
State, including 16 Wheatbelt locations.

The Commission, as part of the sub regional planning 
process, has proactively gathered additional 
telecommunications information in preparation 
for opportunities for future telecommunications 
investment.

The Commission has also partnered with Regional             
Development Australia Wheatbelt (RDA Wheatbelt) 
to develop the Wheatbelt Digital Action Plan. This 
plan is intended to guide future technology and 
communications projects and direct investment in the 
digital Wheatbelt.

Well Aged Care - Central East Aged Care Regional 
Solution - the Central East Wheatbelt Aged Support 
and Care Regional Solutions (CEWASCRS) was 
launched at the Wheatbelt Conference in April 2013. 
The project has received significant recognition at 
both a state and federal government level. The Central 
East Aged Care Alliance (CEACA) is now working to 
implement recommendations of the CEACRS.

Wheatbelt Integrated Aged Support and Care 
Solution/s - building on work done in the Central East, 
31 community forums and 3 service provider forums 
have been completed. The WIASCS final report is 
due for completion at the end of 2013.

LIVEABLE COMMUNITIES

Outcome:	Innovative,	safe	communities	where	services	and	infrastructure	reflect	
the	needs	and	aspirations	of	residents	and	complement	the	Wheatbelt’s	unique	

characteristics;
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State Wide Ageing in the Bush - the Commission is co-
ordinating the State Wide Ageing in the Bush project 
on behalf of the Regional Development Council 
(RDCo). The project will aim to develop an integrated 
plan that identifies aged care solution/s for regional 
Western Australia. The project is currently seeking to 
engage a consultant, with tender applications due to 
be reviewed in mid-August 2013.

Education and Skills Development Service 
Reform – The Department of Training and Workforce 
Development and Department of Employment and 
Workforce Relations have released their respective 
documents: the Wheatbelt Workforce Development 
Plan (2013 – 2016) and the Wheatbelt Regional 
Education, Skills and Jobs Plan to help guide priority 
employment, training and workforce strategies within 
and external to the Wheatbelt.

The Commission continues its partnerships with the 
Wheatbelt Education Region, Directions Workforce 
Solutions Inc, CY O’Connor Institute and the Muresk 
Campus as the main organisations providing 
education, training and employment opportunities 
across the Wheatbelt. Major investment across 
a number of Wheatbelt schools continues to be 
rolled out including the completion of Trade Training 
Centres at Central Midlands, Northam and Narrogin 
Senior High Schools, Narrogin Agriculture College 
and opening of the $17.6m Merredin College.

Health MOU Group - The Wheatbelt Health 
Memorandum of Understanding Group (Health MOU 
Group) is a collaborative partnership between the 
WA Country Health Service - Wheatbelt (WACHS 
Wheatbelt), Wheatbelt General Practice Network, 
Avon-Midland, Central and Great Eastern Country 
Zones and the Wheatbelt Development Commission. 
The group has recently reviewed their Memorandum 
of Understanding to ensure their affiliation 
acknowledges recent health service changes and 
the group’s structural changes. The Health MOU 
Group continues to engage and consult with a variety 
of groups including St. John’s Ambulance, Southern 
Inland Health Initiative and Wheatbelt Integrated 
Aged Support and Care Solutions project as part 
of their charter to ensure community concerns and 
challenges are taken into planning and policy 
changes.

Arts & Culture - the Commission continues to 
support the work of Community Arts Network of WA 
(CANWA). Ongoing work is providing leadership, up 
skilling and a learning pathway to a Certificate IV in 
Governance to Wheatbelt Aboriginal organisations in 
a local community cultural context.

Leadership and Capacity Building – the WDC has 
worked closely with Directions Workforce Solutions 
Inc at board level to assist this organisation to plan 
for its long term future. The WDC continues to work 
with groups such as Directions in recognition of the 
need for quality regional groups coordinating service 
delivery across this unique region.

Sport & Recreation - the Commission works with the 
Department of Sport and Recreation to encourage 
the development of key strategies and investment 
to achieve active, healthy communities. In particular 
the WDC has participated on the Steering Committee 
for DSR’s Wheatbelt Provision of Community 
Sport project. This project aims to develop a set of 
guiding principles to maximise current and future 
sporting participation in the Wheatbelt and is due for 
completion in late 2013.
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VALUED NATURAL AMENITY

The	Wheatbelt’s	unique	natural	amenity	is	valued	as	an	asset	for	social,	cultural	and	
economic development for current and future generations;

Avon Water Reuse - this $3.59 million project has 
been funded to enable treated effluent to be utilised for 
broader community benefit and will reduce the historic 
discharge into the Avon River. The new infrastructure 
will facilitate the continuation and expansion of the 
Northam Race Club’s fundamental role in Western 
Australia’s racing industry in a cost sustainable 
way by providing reuse and storm water capture for 
course facilities. This project is due to be completed 
in 2014 after experiencing construction delays largely 
associated with the excavation of significant areas of 
rock. The Commission and Building Management 
and Works are providing project management to a 
steering committee with representatives from the 
Avon Community Development Foundation, Northam 
Race Club and the Shire of Northam.

Supporting Natural Resource Management - 
the Commission’s CEO is assisting the work of the 
Wheatbelt NRM by providing mentoring support. 
Further the WDC is a member of the Wheatbelt 
NRM’s Wheatbelt Stormwater Reuse Project Steering 
Committee assisting with program development, and 
project assessment. The Stormwater Reuse project 
is supporting local governments to make better 
use of the stormwater to improve infrastructure and 
contribute to community wellbeing.
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PLANNING AND PARTNERSHIPS

Innovation and professionalism of development partners drives sustainable development.
Integrated Planning results in investment in strategic projects;

Country Local Government Fund – adding value 
Towards a Wheatbelt Infrastructure Plans 1 and 
2 - A total of $16,669,901 was allocated to Wheatbelt 
local government groups. The Commission has 
continued its focus on sub-regional planning as part 
of the engagement process with Wheatbelt local 
government groups and delivery of the Country 
Local Government Fund regional component. From 
the five fora held across the Wheatbelt, a total of 
15 projects were submitted to the CLGF Regional 
2012-13 round which mainly focused on housing and 
accommodation (particularly construction of aged 
care and universal designed houses) and sport and 
recreation infrastructure.

Key infrastructure issues identified through the 
process are incorporated into the Towards a 
Wheatbelt Infrastructure Plan Report 3 (September 
2012), indicating that most local government group 
projects are working toward resolving these issues. 
This process has also put most Wheatbelt local 
governments at the forefront of working collaboratively 
on future region wide projects.

Department of Planning Partnership - as a 
member of the Wheatbelt Regional Planning Advisory 
Committee the WDC contributed to the Wheatbelt 
Regional Planning and Infrastructure Framework 
(WRPIF). In the next 12 months the WDC will continue 
to work closely with DoP to ensure alignment of the 
Regional Blueprint and the WRPIF.

Wheatbelt Snapshot Series – topic specific 
snapshot documents have been developed for key 
subjects over the past year. These documents have 
provided context and direction for engagement 
with key agencies to better understand the key 
development issues for the Wheatbelt. This document 
series supports the broader regional planning 
activity the Commission is undertaking including the 
development of the Regional Blueprint.

Local Government Conference  -  the 2013 
Wheatbelt Conference was held on the 11 & 12 April 
at the Merredin Regional Community and Leisure 
Centre. The Conference attracted more than 120 
delegates from multiple levels of government, private 
and non government organisations across the 
Wheatbelt.

Keynote speaker Bernard Salt provided insight 
into global trends, global demands and population 
forecasts. The Steering Committee is planning for the 
next conference, which is set to take place in April 
2014.

Engaging with Higher Education - the Commission 
received commendation from the Public Sector 
Commission for the Student Graduate Program 
during the reporting period. The relationship built 
between our higher education institutions, the 
Commission and students ensures the connection 
between regional development and research 
activities continues and an enhanced understanding 
of the Wheatbelt is achieved. To date, students who 
have completed their studies whilst working part time 
with the Commission, have successfully moved into 
full time employment at the Commission or other 
public sector organisations.

Partnering with strategic organisations in the 
region – strengthening key organisations within 
the region to support workforce and economic 
development continues to be a key strategy of 
the Commission. Board and staff provide critical 
input through management committees, the joint 
development and implementation of strategic projects, 
and/or the provision of administrative support.

Organisations in which Board and staff play an active 
role include:
• RDA Wheatbelt
• Avon Industrial Park Advisory Board
• Directions Workforce Solutions (Inc)
• Essential Personnel (Inc)
• Avon Community Development Foundation (Inc)
• CY O’Connor Institute
• Heartlands WA (Inc)
• Yongah Hill Immigration Detention Centre 

Community Reference Group
• Jurien Bay and Northam SuperTowns Project 

Teams
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Indigenous Development
The Commission has continued to support the Northam Elders Group to develop a model of inter family 
cooperation that can guide such collaboration on other parts of the Wheatbelt. The group has become an 
incorporated entity, played a role in local Aboriginal heritage monitoring, provided guidance on youth matters 
and been involved in SuperTowns activities. During this year the group will consolidate its aim and produce 
position papers on matters of importance.

WDC will continue to support local stakeholders, Southwest Aboriginal Land and Sea Council (SWALSC) 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA) and Department of Corrective Services (DCS) on progressing the 
Mogumber Mission site, providing positive outcomes for Aboriginal people across the State.
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MARKETING AND PERCEPTIONS

The Wheatbelt is seen internally and externally as an ideal place to 
live, work, invest and visit.

Marketing the Commission - the Commission 
monthly e-news, sent via email, continues to engage 
the wider community and keep readers up to date with 
Commission activities and successes. The e-news is 
distributed to 413 general subscriber addresses with 
an average open rate of 40%. In addition, 50 media 
addresses have been targeted with an average open 
rate of 20%. The website continues to be the first port 
of call with a plethora of useful information. 

Another successful ‘Friends of the Wheatbelt‘ 
Dinner was held in February 2013 with the theme 
“The World Loves the Wheatbelt”. It focused on the 
global opportunities that the Wheatbelt is tapping 
into. A branded promotional product (USB stick) was 
distributed at the event, containing key economic 
social and environmental highlights, and the 
Wheatbelt Strategic Framework.

Heartlands WA partnership – the Heartlands WA 
web portal continues to improve with the addition 
of significant regional information including jobs, 
residential/industrial land sales and investment 
opportunities. The Wheatbelt Development 
Commission has liaised with Heartlands WA with 
further initiatives such as:
• the Heartlands Hampers (online sales of 

Wheatbelt products)
• Avon Business Alliance (collaboration across 

business in the Avon to better address common 
issues and opportunities); and 

• an Australia’s Coral Coast Photographic Shoot 
(capturing the Central Coast sub region’s liveable 
communities and valued natural amenity).
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Significant Issues Impacting the 
Wheatbelt Development Commission

Delivering	the	State’s	Development	Agenda
The draft State Planning Strategy (SPS) released 
in 2012 outlines the opportunities for growth of 
the state’s economy and population. The Strategy 
indicates the “population of WA could increase from 
2.4 million currently to at least 3.5 million and possibly 
5.4 million by 2056.” (SPS pg 10) High population 
growth rates predicted for the state are presenting 
a number of challenges for the metropolitan region.

The Wheatbelt region is well placed to support this  
future growth. There is substantial social infrastructure 
such as sporting facilities, hospitals, education 
facilities, and historic town centres. With targeted 
investment in power, water, land and transport 
infrastructure, the Wheatbelt can develop substantially 
and assist in housing the state’s workforce growth. 
Planning for the region’s SuperTowns of Northam 
and Jurien Bay has highlighted the region’s ability 
to house larger population with relatively small 
investment in infrastructure.

In spite of seasonal fluctuations and current 
challenges for the sector, “broadacre agriculture will 
continue to underpin local economic development.” 
(Avon Sub Regional Economic Strategy, RPS, page i 
2013). “To meet the food demands of a growing world 
population, global agricultural production will need to 
double by 2050.” (SPS pg 42).

Increasing global demand for food and the increasing 
middle class in Asia and India present opportunities 
for the growth and diversification within this sector. 
This opportunity for growth is highlighted by the 
State government’s renewed investment in the 
agricultural sector. The WDC recognises that to meet 
the challenge of increasing agricultural production, 
significant productivity gains and improved supply 
chain integration will be required.

Quality infrastructure is critical to ensure the region 
is able to maximise these opportunities. The 
Commission has identified transport infrastructure as 
particularly important to sustain growth and access 
global market opportunities, with a focus on road 
linkages to the state’s north, grain freight transport 

and the opportunity to build on the significant aviation 
industry activity in the region.

Workforce Development – Attraction and 
Retention
As a region with a consistently low unemployment 
rate, workforce attraction and retention remains a 
critical issue for industry attraction in the Wheatbelt. In 
2011/12 the region had the third lowest unemployment 
rate of 2.5%, sitting just above the State’s two major 
mining regions, Pilbara and Goldfields-Esperance. 
One of the major re-location decisions organisations 
make in relation to moving to the Wheatbelt is labour 
force availability.

The Commission continues to support Heartlands 
WA to market the region. This partnership undertook 
some small scale promotional activity in 2012/13, 
successfully promoting job vacancies within the 
region to external interests in Tasmania, northern New 
South Wales and the Perth metropolitan area. This 
activity will provide the platform for the development 
of more targeted labour force attraction marketing in 
2013/14.

The Commission partnered with the Department 
of Training and Workforce Development and the 
Australian Government’s Department of Education, 
Employment and Workforce Relations to develop 
the Wheatbelt Workforce Development Plan 2013-
2016 and the Regional Education, Skills and Jobs 
Plan Western Australia Wheatbelt 2012-2014 
respectively. These plans highlight the complexity 
of the region’s workforce development issues, links 
to housing, education, health, childcare and access 
to professional development and workforce support 
networks.

Both plans recognise underemployment in the 
region can be linked to a lack of flexible working   
arrangements and access to childcare. The 
Commission works to model best practice flexible 
working arrangements and actively encourages other 
government agencies to do likewise.
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Regional Planning and Service Delivery Reform
Regional planning has traditionally focused on 
topics and has lacked integration across agencies. 
The Commission seeks to ensure cross-agency 
information sharing and collaboration to deliver 
ordered growth. 

To achieve this, the Commission will continue to 
partner with:

• RDA Wheatbelt to develop on-going 
implementation of the Wheatbelt Strategic 
Framework

• Wheatbelt local governments to develop the 
Sub Regional Economic Plans and implement 
Towards a Wheatbelt Infrastructure Plan Report 3

• Multiple agencies to develop the Wheatbelt 
Regional Investment Blueprint

• Department of Planning to develop the Wheatbelt 
Planning and Infrastructure Framework

• Central East Aged Care Alliance to implement the 
Central East Wheatbelt Aged Support and Care 
Regional Solution/s Report

• LandCorp to develop the Industrial Land in the 
Avon report

• Department of Housing to develop a Wheatbelt 
Housing Plan

The Wheatbelt Development Commission has 
completed Stage 1 of the Wheatbelt Regional 
Investment Blueprint and initiated the sub regional 
economic planning activities. Along with the Avon 
and Central Coast sub regional economic strategies, 
these documents will guide the Commission’s regional 
priorities and alignment with key state projects. On-
going resourcing to ensure this integrated planning 
results in tangible outcomes for the region will be 
required.

As the region grows, the Wheatbelt’s changing 
demographic profile and differing expectations of 
new residents will require creative service delivery 
mechanisms. Aged care planning has been a priority 
area for the Commission and this activity will continue 
throughout 2013/14. Additionally health, education, 
family services and local government reform will 
require significant resources.

Managing Growth
Growth pressures within the peri-urban, coastal 
and Central Midlands continue as a focus for the 
Commission. Horticultural growth along the Central 
Coast and Central Midlands will see competing 
demands for underground water supplies and the 
immediate need to progress feasibility studies to 

determine a location for industrial land development 
to attract complimentary value-add businesses/
industry to this sub-region.

The Commission has also progressed with additional 
sub-regional economic planning activities in the 
Central East, Central Midlands and Wheatbelt 
South. This research and analysis being undertaken 
in partnership with RPS Group and LandCorp will 
assist in understanding the economic and population 
growth scenarios and planning required to manage 
the state’s population growth.

The Wheatbelt Development Commission will 
continue to engage state agencies to ensure this 
growth is managed.

Adverse Seasonal Conditions
The agricultural sector continues to face significant 
challenges in the wake of adverse seasonal 
conditions, predicted climatic changes and economic 
constraints. Significantly low rainfall during the 
winter growing season across the Central East 
and Wheatbelt South sub-regions and extreme 
weather events across the Avon, Central Midlands 
and Wheatbelt South impacted total grain and hay 
production during the reporting season.

The state government has made a significant 
commitment to the agricultural sector and 
communities impacted by poor seasons. It continues 
to investigate opportunities to support this sector. 
The Commission supports programs that assist in 
long term sustainability of the agricultural sector and 
diversification of industry across the region.

Reform of the Regional Development Portfolio
The Commission’s organisational structure enables 
a flexible approach to both program delivery and 
ongoing reforms within the Regional Development 
portfolio. This has ensured changes such as the 
decommissioning of the Office of Shared Services     
and creation of the Regional Development 
Commission portal have had limited impact on 
the structure of the Commission and day-to-day 
administration activities.

With the onset of major budget cuts as a result of 
changing economic conditions, the Commission is 
well placed to respond to any significant change. 
Working closely with the Regional Development 
Council and central agencies, the Commission will 
continue to strengthen the regional development 
portfolio through collaborative partnerships.          
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Community Engagement
During 2012/13 the Wheatbelt Development 
Commission engaged with Wheatbelt local 
governments as part of the delivery of the Country 
Local Government Fund (Regional component) to 
identify regional significant infrastructure projects 
and priorities.

Additional consultation through the sub regional 
economic planning process was undertaken to add 
value to the desktop data analysis.

Through the Wheatbelt Integrated Aged Support 
and Care Planning project, Wheatbelt communities 
were engaged to gain a clear understanding of 
their requirements to best accommodate an ageing 
population.

This example of community focused service planning 
can potentially result in aged care and health services 
better meeting the profile of regional need. Ensuring 
key decision makers have direct input to the process, 
enables them to be part of the solution in developing 
the new service models.

Partnerships
The Commission places significant value on 
partnerships across all levels of government, 
community and private enterprise. In tightening 
economic conditions and focus on state-wide 
significant projects, it is essential for the Wheatbelt 
to be competitive. To ensure regionally significant 
projects are competitive within the state-wide 
framework, a continued focus on strengthening 
partnerships is critical.

Building Capacity
The Commission is committed to continue to build 
regional capacity by supporting organisations within 
the region that have whole of region reach, and align 
to the strategic objectives of the Wheatbelt Strategic 
Framework. In this highly fragmented region, and in 
a context of economic constraint, that represents a 
considerable challenge.
To deliver required outcomes in this context, the 
Commission will continue to adopt innovative 
approaches through such initiatives as:
• Graduate Employment Program
• Collaborative consulting
• Strategic Partnerships
• A flexible organisational structure that enables 

both:
best practice employment to maximise      
attraction and retention and
organisational renewal to bring new ideas and 
skills sets.

This approach is sometimes challenging in a low risk, 
high compliance environment. The Commission will 
continue to advocate for sound risk management 
processes that better match resource allocation to 
risk profile.

Meeting the Challenge
The Wheatbelt Development Commission’s 
organisational structure and direction, affords 
flexibility to adapt to known challenges and 
unexpected change. The Commission’s regional 
knowledge and networks at regional and central level 
enable the Commission to respond and deliver on 
State and region wide priorities.
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Wheatbelt Outlook
2013-2014

Wheatbelt Outlook
2013-2014

The outlook for the Wheatbelt is very positive with significant opportunities for population and economic 
growth. While it is expected that agricultural restructuring, climate change and changing population needs will 
drive change in the Wheatbelt, the overall population will increase significantly over the next 20 years. This 
will bring new businesses, increased services and housing investment. It is accepted that one of the major 
constraints to private investment in the Wheatbelt is the lack of a labour force, with unemployment sitting at 
around 2.5%.

While the State has experienced a slowing in economic activity from 2012 levels, continued growth is 
expected into the future. The expansion of Perth and the strong economic position of the State will continue 
to drive increasing growth in the region and will require quality integrated regional planning. It is imperative 
that constraints to development are removed if the Wheatbelt is going to be part of the solution to the State’s 
population growth requirements.

The region’s substantial social infrastructure such as sporting facilities, hospitals, education facilities, and 
historic town centres mean that the Wheatbelt is not a greenfields site for population growth. Targeted 
investment in power, water, telecommunications, land and transport infrastructure can support substantial 
development within the region to assist in housing the state’s growing workforce.

The Wheatbelt Development Commission will continue to coordinate efforts in land use, economic, 
infrastructure and service delivery planning to support a rapidly changing region. It is important that both local 
and central decision makers have quality information, both to ensure ordered development of the region as 
well as ensuring the Wheatbelt delivers on its potential to contribute significantly to the State’s development.

Social services in general, and our communities’ ability to integrate increased numbers and population 
diversity, will become a focal point for the Wheatbelt.

It is important that the Wheatbelt region now looks to the future. Increased education and training opportunities, 
more housing diversity, business development and continual improvement in customer service, as well as 
improved access to allied health and other human services, are all required for this region to double its 
population in a harmonious and managed way.

To encourage new businesses to make substantial investments in this region, it is fundamental that they are 
able to attract a high quality, stable and skilled workforce. While there is always a need to manage economic 
restructuring, this region is now turning its focus to population attraction.
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Statement of PerformanceCommission Grants

Royalties for Regions is a State Government program designed to promote long-term development in Western 
Australia’s regions. The Wheatbelt Development Commission continues to administer the remaining current 
Royalties for Regions Wheatbelt Regional Grants Scheme projects.

Further projects administered by the Commission as part of the Royalties for Region program in 
2012-2013:

Country Local Government Fund Support to Regional Groups of Local 
Government

$300,000

Regional Investment Project Sub Regional Economic Planning – Central 
Midlands, Central East & Central South

$250,000

Capacity Building $100,000
Regional Investment Blueprint $60,000
Whole of Wheatbelt Aged Care Planning $50,000
Statewide Ageing in Place Strategy $7,500
Wheatbelt Housing Business Case $50,000
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Statement of Performance

1

Certification	of	Performance	Indicators	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2013
We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate 
for assisting users to assess the Wheatbelt Development Commission’s performance and fairly represent the 
performance of the Wheatbelt Development Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

Tim Shackleton  Wendy Newman
Chair of the Board  Chief Executive Officer
11 September 2013        11 September 2013
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Performance Summary

Report on Operations
Performance information (financial and non-financial) is the subject of a Resource Agreement. An annual 
client survey and financial analysis are used to measure performance.

Relationships to Government Goals
Desired Outcome: The benefits from sustainable development consistent with the expectations of the regional 
community flow to the people of the Wheatbelt.

Key Performance Indicators: From 191 Clients asked to participate in the annual client survey, 132 responded 
(68% response rate). The Commission has again performed well against its three performance indicators. 
There has been significant improvement for ‘undertaking activities which are appropriate to the communities’ 
needs’ (up five percentage points).

Key Performance Indicators 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Movement
Promote development 89% 81% 94% 94% 96% 96% =
Benefit the people 86% 91% 94% 95% 96% 97% + 1%
Appropriate to the community 84% 88% 89% 81% 90% 95% + 5%

A majority, or 84% of respondents believed that the Commission performed well (i.e. rated ‘above average’ 
or ‘excellent’) this year. This is higher than the 76% achieved in 2012 and is well above the average of 68% 
achieved over the previous 5 years of annual surveys.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Movement
General Performance 68% 62% 71% 69% 76% 84% + 8%

In terms of its specific performance issues, the Commission has achieved sound results this year, with 
satisfaction higher across all eight areas. Up significantly from the last survey are “addressing important 
issues” (up 12 percentage points) and “providing useful advice” and “up to date reliable information” (both up 
10 percentage points).

Specific	Activities 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Movement
Planning for business/industry 60% 62% 72% 64% 70% 70% =
Assisting business & industry 70% 66% 68% 59% 62% 68% +  6%
Improving region’s economy 56% 66% 73% 69% 70% 74% +  4%
Addressing social issues 68% 58% 67% 54% 69% 73% +  4%
Assisting social development 63% 69% 63% 54% 71% 72% +  1%
Up-to-date reliable information 67% 56% 72% 66% 74% 84% +  10%
Providing useful advice 72% 68% 73% 72% 74% 84% +  10%
Addressing Important issues 53% 72% 72% 65% 72% 84% +  12%

Indicators for customer services remain at a very high level and have not shown significant changes compared 
to 2012.
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Customer Service 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Movement
Timely response 79% 78% 83% 89% 87% 93% + 6%
Generally interested in helping 88% 90% 89% 93% 89% 92% + 3%
Easily accessible staff 80% 73% 79% 83% 84% 92% + 8%
Professionalism 88% 85% 87% 91% 90% 93% + 3%

New indicators this year for the Commission website are also very positive, with 81% rating the website 
‘above average’ or ‘excellent’ for both ease of navigation and usefulness of information.

Website	(new	question) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Movement
Ease of navigation - - - - 81% -
Usefulness of information - - - - 81% -

The majority of respondents (84%) felt that the Commission provides a genuinely useful 
service, very similar to last year, and in-line with the average 82% over the previous 6 years. 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Movement
Provides a useful service 81% 83% 82% 83% 85% 84% - 1%

Support for the Commission’s role in assisting the economic development of the region has remained at the 
same high levels as last year (97%).

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Movement
Support for the WDC’s role 90% 97% 96% 98% 97% 97% =

Resource Agreement

FINANCIAL TARGETS: Actual performance compared to budget targets

Note Target $M Actual $M Variation $M
Total cost of services (expense limit) 1 4,978 5,978 (1000)
Net cost of services 4,945 5,662 (717)
Total equity 2 (47) 1,971 (5,018)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash held 3 (564) (3,373) 2,809
Approved full-time equivalent level 14 17 (3)

1. Expenditure budgeted on externally funded projects initially were costed to grants and subsidies, however, 
some work was completed in house by contract staff, contributing to the over expenditure of employee 
services and outsourced consultancies expenditure.

     Budget  2012’13
Employee costs   1,323  1,945   (622)
Grants & subsidies   2,813     920   1,893
Consultants expenses     160  2,420   (2,260)
     4,296  5,285   (989)
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1. 
2. Unbudgeted revenue of contributions to the Whole of the Wheatbelt Aged Care Planning project for 

$282,500 from both Commonwealth and Local Governments.

3. Budget anticipated for the depletion of restricted cash for the payment of grants and subsidies, however, 
with the carryover of funds for the Royalties for Regions program, the result was a positive equity balance.

4. Payment of carryover funds of Royalties for Regions program and new unbudgeted grant monies to be 
expended in 2012’13.

Key Performance Indicators
Outcome: The benefits from sustainable development consistent with the expectations of the regional 
community flow to the people of the Wheatbelt.

Customer satisfaction survey Target Actual Variation
Sample size 125 131
Strongly agree 27% 19% 8%
Agree 63% 71% 8%
Neither agree nor disagree 4% 2% -2%
Disagree 1% 3% 2%
Strongly disagree 2% 1% -1%
Don’t know 3% 4% -1%

Key	Efficiency	Indicators
All of the Wheatbelt Development Commission’s core activities contribute to two services:
1. Information and Promotion Services
2. Facilitation Services

The Wheatbelt Development Commission uses cost per hour of service as its efficiency indicator, calculated 
separately for each service.

Service 1: Information and Promotion Target ($) Actual ($) Variation
Average cost p/hr of regional development service $       92.69 $96.85      4.16                                   

Average cost per program of grants conveyed $     54,835 $29,088     (25,747)                                   

Service 2: Facilitation Target ($) Actual ($) Variation
Average cost p/hr of regional development service $       94.54 $98.62     4.08                                        

Average cost per program of grants conveyed $     55,165 $47,325     (7,840)                                      

The increase in cost per hour of service delivery is due to the increased hours by project staff and support 
staff in administering the Royalties for Regions program. The increase in the hourly rate is also directly 
attributable to large increases in consultancy hours purchased for the projects such as:
• Avon Water Re-use
• Country Local Government Fund
• SuperTowns
• Avon Development Unit

Cost per program is under budget due to the swing in grants and subsidies applications moving to more 
tangible projects and away from strategies and feasibility studies.
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Comparative	Efficiency	Indicator	figures	for	2012/2013

Service 1 Service 2 Total
Hours of service 11,964 14,381 26,345
Total cost of service $2,828,139 $3,149,749 $5,977,888
Less grant funds conveyed $1,560,761 $1,738,248 $3,299,009
Adjusted total cost of service $1,267,378 $1,411,501 $2,678,879
Service cost per hour $105.93 $98.15 $101.68

Comparative	Efficiency	Indicator	figures	for	2011/2012

Service 1 Service 2 Total
Hours of service 12,052 12,344 24,396
Total cost of service $2,923,848 $2,968,630 $5,892,478
Less grant funds conveyed $1,679,083 $1,704,800 $3,383,883
Adjusted total cost of service $1,244,765 $1,263,800 $2,508,995
Service cost per hour $103.28 $102.39 $102.83

The overall cost per hour has increased by 2.05%, with an increase in cost per hour for Information & 
Promotion Services of $1.64 per hour and a decrease of $5.17 per hour for Facilitation Services.

The decrease in cost per hour of service delivery is due to the slight decreased in hours by project staff and 
support staff in administering the Royalties for Regions projects such as Avon Water Re-use; Country Local 
Government Fund, Avon Development Unit and SuperTowns and with the additional cost of consultancies to 
assist in implementing the respective programs.
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Legal Requirements

Advertising
In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Wheatbelt Development Commission is 
required to report on expenditure incurred during the financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market 
research organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations.

The following expenditures were incurred (inclusive of GST):

Expenditure with Advertising Agencies
Colourbox Digital $2,557
Barrett Displays $3,388
Post A Signs $1,078
Wheatbelt Natural Resources Management $1,397
Tash Holden Communications $215
Class total $8,635

Expenditure with Market Research Agencies
Advantage Communications & Marketing Pty Ltd              $4,895
Class total $4,895

Expenditure with Polling Agencies Nil
Expenditure with Direct Mail Agencies Nil
Expenditure with Media Advertising Agencies

Adcorp $3,272
Jive Media $468
Other minor publications Nil

Class Total $3,740

TOTAL EXPENDITURE $17,270
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
The Wheatbelt Development Commission has developed a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2012 - 2017 
which has the primary focus of improving access to the Commission’s services, facilities and information.

• Existing functions, facilities and services are adapted to meet the needs of people with disabilities
• All information produced by the Commission is available in alternative formats, large print and computer 

CD, upon request
• The Commission’s website and online marketing is progressing towards compliance with the Public 

Sector Commission

Access to Buildings and Facilities
The Commission holds most meetings in its own offices. The Wheatbelt Development Commission covers 43 
local government authorities and in excess of 150 communities. Many meetings are held at shire offices and 
halls, which have disabled facilities.

Wheatbelt Development Commission remains adaptable in responding to barriers experienced by people 
with disabilities and until improvements are made to our current premises, the Commission will make 
arrangements to meet people with disabilities at premises that conform.

Information about functions, facilities and services is provided in a format which meets the communication 
needs of people with disabilities.

All functions are arranged with consideration to access for the disabled. The Wheatbelt Development 
Commission has a policy on communicating in plain English with customers. Staff awareness of the needs 
of people with disabilities and skills in delivering services is improved. All staff have participated in disability 
awareness training.

Opportunities are provided for people with disabilities to participate in public consultations, grievance 
mechanisms and decision-making processes.

Human Resource Management Standards
The Wheatbelt Development Commission is fully compliant with the Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management. The standards are applied rigorously across all specified areas of human resource 
management where those activities are undertaken.

No instances of transfer, redeployment, discipline, termination or grievance resolution breaches were 
encountered during 2012/ 2013.

As a small agency, the Wheatbelt Development Commission encounters a limited number of human resources 
events that require application of the Standards, and the same person manages each such event. This 
structure facilitates application of the Standards to each individual event.

Claims for Breaches of the Standards – Nil

Public Sector Standards and Code of Ethics
The Commission has complied fully with the ‘Public Sector Standards, Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics’. 
The following is an overview of the Commission’s activities with respect to compliance with Public Sector 
Standards and Ethical Codes:
• Compliance has been monitored throughout the year through a process of quality assurance decisions 

relating to recruitment, selection and employment.
• The Commission has developed ‘Code of Conduct’ policies for both staff and Board members of the 

Commission which incorporates the Public Sector’s ‘Code of Ethics’. 
• Guidelines and procedures to ensure compliance with the Public Sector Standards, including a code of 

conduct is provided to all staff on the commencement of their employment, as part of the Commission’s 
induction package.
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• The review of the Commission’s ‘Code of Conduct’ is conducted annually. 
• The Chief Executive Officer and Board have undertaken Ethical Decision Making Training.
• The Commission views the principles embodied in the ‘Public Sector Standards, Code of Conduct and 

Code of Ethics’ as paramount and as such they are reflected in the management processes practised by 
the agency.

• The Commission did not receive any complaints relating to its compliance with the ‘Public Sector 
Standards, Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics’ during 2012/2013.

• Development and/or review of a comprehensive range of human resource policies.
• Development of stakeholder/ customer complaint policy for the Commission.

Compliance with Public Sector Management Act Section 31(1)
1. In the administration of the Wheatbelt Development Commission, I have complied with the Public Sector 

Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and 
our Code of Conduct.

2. I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted appropriate internal 
assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1 is correct.

3. The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the reporting 
period are:

Number Lodged: Nil
Number of breaches found, Including details of multiple breaches per application: Nil
Number still under review: Nil

Wendy Newman
Chief Executive Officer
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Reporting on Record Keeping Plans
The Wheatbelt Development Commission is required to comply with the State Records Act 2000. In accordance 
with the State Records Act 2000, a Record Keeping Plan has being developed, consistent with the principles 
defined by the State Records Commission.

The Wheatbelt Development Commission does not have a formal record keeping training program due to the 
small number of staff and the geographically diverse nature of the office locations. Training in record keeping 
practices is given to new employees at the earliest practical opportunity, with a preference for onsite training 
at the office that is the employee’s usual base. Training for existing employees is provided as required, for 
example, during implementation of new technology or systems.

The effectiveness of record keeping practices is continuously monitored with site visits to offices conducted 
regularly. An induction program for new staff addresses the responsibilities of the commission and its employees 
with regard to compliance in a number of areas, including record keeping practices and expectations. Each 
new employee receives an induction package containing a copy of the Commission’s Document Handling 
Guidelines and file plan.

Policies related to record keeping and computer management are reviewed biennially and updated, if required, 
in line with current operational and compliance requirements. Policies are lodged on the Commission’s 
intranet and can be accessed by all staff.
 
Freedom of Information
The Wheatbelt Development Commission maintains a range of documents relating to its business activities in 
both hard copy and electronic form. Documents covering the business activities of administrative processes 
and procedures, corporate services, grant funding management, board functions and project work are kept 
in accordance with the State Records Act 2000. Publications such as reports, fact sheets and promotional 
material are also produced by the Commission.

The Wheatbelt Development Commission does not charge for brochures and publications. No charge is 
levied on requests for information that are simple to service, although the Commission does reserve the right 
to recoup costs if a request requires significant resources to satisfy.

The Wheatbelt Development Commission has a policy of providing personal information to employees and 
former staff when requested through the proper channels.

Applications for information not normally provided publicly or posted on the web site can be made under 
the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 1992, for which the standard $30.00 charge applies. The 
Wheatbelt Development Commission received no Freedom of Information requests during the year.

The contact details of the Freedom of Information Officer are as follows:

Manager, Finance and Corporate Services
Wheatbelt Development Commission
PO Box 250
NORTHAM WA 6401
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Occupational Health and Safety 
The Wheatbelt Development Commission is committed to the principles of Occupational Health and Safety 
and Injury Management.

The Commission has adopted the Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian 
Public Sector (the ‘Code’) and has in place an Injury Management System together with a Return to Work 
Program.

The Code of Practice and Injury Management System forms part of the Commission’s induction package for 
all new and existing employees.

Presently, any changes to the above are communicated to all staff via the Commission’s intranet.
The Commission, being a small statutory authority, communicates with its employees by way of regular 
meetings, phone contact, email system and internet, if there are any changes to legislation or policy as they 
occur. To date there have been no reported incidents, however the mechanism is in place should one occur.
The Commission has one employee who has completed the Occupational Safety and Health training course 
and acts as the Commission’s representative on all related matters.

Periodic reviews of the workplace are conducted to ascertain any hazards. Should any issues be identified 
in the interim they are quickly addressed. An incident book is located centrally for staff to identify and report 
any possible hazardous situations. It is planned to have an independent assessment of the Wheatbelt 
Development Commissions occupational health and safety management system by an external accredited 
assessor in 2013-2014.

As part of the review process, all electrical connections have been assessed by a qualified external assessor 
and all cords have been tagged appropriately. This process is ongoing and will be carried out annually.
 
Statement of Compliance
As stated above, the Commission has adopted the Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the 
Western Australian Public Sector (the ‘Code’) and has in place an Injury Management System together with a 
Return to Work Program. These are in accordance with the Worker’s Compensation and Injury Management 
Act 1981.

Report	of	Annual	Performance	2012/2013

Indicator Target	2012’13 Actual	2012’13
Number of Fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0)
Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) incidence rate Zero (0) Zero (0)
Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) Zero (0)
Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 28 weeks 100%
Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, heath 
and injury management responsibilities

Greater than or 
equal to 50%

33%

Flexible Working Arrangements
The Commission is committed to providing a working environment that takes into consideration the needs 
of employees and their families. The approach taken by the Commission is to provide flexible working 
arrangements that include the opportunity for employees to adjust their working hours through the use of 
flexi-time and to work from home.

Ministerial Directives 
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year.

Evaluations
No formal program evaluations were undertaken during the 2012-2013 financial year.
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Certificate of Financial Statements
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For	the	Year	Ended	30	June	2013

The accompanying financial statements of the Wheatbelt Development Commission have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to 
present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 and the financial position 
as at 30 June 2013.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars included in 
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Tim Shackleton  
Chair of the Board  
11 September 2013   

Wendy Newman
Chief Executive Officer
11 September 2013

Norm Brierley
Chief Finance Officer
11 September 2013
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600

INDEPENDENT	AUDITOR’S	REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

WHEATBELT DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Wheatbelt Development 
Commission.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Commission’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Commission is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Commission determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Commission, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Wheatbelt Development Commission at 
30 June 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.



46

Page 2 of 3

Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Wheatbelt Development Commission during the 
year ended 30 June 2013.

Controls exercised by the Wheatbelt Development Commission are those policies and 
procedures established by the Commission to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

Commission’s Responsibility for Controls
The Commission is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to 
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Wheatbelt Development Commission based on my audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Commission complies with the legislative provisions. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the 
design and implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Wheatbelt Development Commission are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Wheatbelt Development Commission for 
the year ended 30 June 2013.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Commission’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Commission is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Commission determines necessary to 
ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Wheatbelt Development Commission are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Commission’s performance and fairly 
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical
requirements. 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Wheatbelt Development Commission for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the 
Commission’s website. The Commission’s management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Commission’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the 
Commission’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key 
performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to 
refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to 
confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators.

DON CUNNINGHAME
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL ASSURANCE SERVICES
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
17 September 2013
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Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2013
 

Note 2013 2012
($) ($)

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6 1,945,227 1,569,461 
Supplies and services 7 2,906,559 1,710,085 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 47,956 36,785 
Accommodation expense 9 142,654 122,879 
Grants and subsidies 10 920,425 2,446,326 
Other expenses 11 11,640 6,942 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 13 3,427 -

Total Cost of Services 5,977,888 5,892,478

Income
Revenue

Other revenue 12 315,443 123,829 

Total	Revenue 315,443 123,829

Total Income other than income from State Government

NET COST OF SERVICES 5,662,445 5,768,649

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service Appropriation 14 1,861,000 1,861,000 
Resources received free of charge 14 19,668 14,556 
Grants received from State Government Agencies 14 - 3,600,000 
Royalties for Regions Fund 1,067,500 2,603,000 

Total Income from State Government 2,948,168 8,078,556

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)	FOR	THE	PERIOD (2,714,277) 2,309,907

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -

Total other comprehensive income - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (2,714,277) 2,309,907

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2013
 

Note 2013 2012
$ ($)

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 26 130,586 183,437 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 15 2,201,736 5,522,009 
Receivables 16 158,618 157,376 
Amounts receivable for services 17 19,000 29,000 
Other current assets 18 - 47,570 

Total Current Assets 2,509,940 5,939,392

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 17 80,000 70,000 
Property, plant and equipment 19 200,541 174,766 
Intangible Assets 20 7,015 17,157 
Other non-current assets 18 - -

Total Non-current Assets 287,556 261,923

TOTAL ASSETS 2,797,496 6,201,315

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 22 465,778 1,224,625 
Provisions 23 279,292 223,457 
Other current liabilities 24 16,191 13,044 

Total Current Liabilities 761,261 1,461,126

Non-current Liabilities
Provisions 23 71,618 61,295 

Total Non-current Liabilities 71,618 61,295

Total Liabilities 832,879 1,522,421

NET ASSETS 1,964,617 4,678,894

EQUITY 25

Contributed equity 75,000 75,000 
Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 1,889,617 4,603,894 

TOTAL EQUITY 1,964,617 4,678,894

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2013
 
 

Contributed Accumulated Total
Note Equity surplus/(deficit) Equity

Balance	at	1	July	2011 25
           

75,000 2,293,987 2,368,987
Surplus/(deficit) - 2,309,907 2,309,907
Total comprehensive income for the period - 2,309,907 2,309,907

Balance	@	30	June	2012
           

75,000 
             

4,603,894 4,678,894

Balance	at	1	July	2012 75,000 4,603,894 4,678,894
Surplus/(deficit} - (2,714,277) (2,714,277)
Total comprehensive income for the period - (2,714,277) (2,714,277)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:Capital appropriations - - -
Total - - -

Balance at 30 June 2013
           

75,000 
             

1,889,617 1,964,617

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash Flow
For the year ended 30 June 2013

This Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note 2013 2012
$ ($)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service Appropriation 1,826,000           1,810,000 
Holding account drawdowns 35,000                20,000 
Grants from State Government agencies -           3,600,000 
Royalties for Regions Fund 1,067,500           2,603,000 

Net Cash Provided by State Government           2,928,500 8,033,000

Utilised as follows:

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits (1,930,243) (1,533,651)
Supplies and services (3,053,723) (1,304,192)
Accommodation (122,986)            (127,285)
Grants and subsidies (1,302,635) (2,184,184)
GST payments on purchases (510,822)               (49,857)
GST payments to taxation authority (14,254)            (309,507)

Receipts
Other receipts 352,893                54,413 
GST receipts on sales 7,370                 (4,440)
GST receipts from taxation authority 339,792              309,508 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 26 (6,234,608) (5,149,195)

CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets (67,016)                          -   
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets                          -   

Net cash (used in) investing activities (67,016)                          -   

Net Increase in	cash	and	cash	equivalents (3,737,124)           2,883,805 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 5,705,446           2,821,641 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
OF THE PERIOD 25 2,332,322 5,705,446
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Schedule of Income and expenses by Service

Information and Promotion 
Services

Facilitation Services Total

2013
$

2012
$

2013
$

2012
$

2013
$

2012
$

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 1,025,913 827,734
         

919,314 741,727 1,945,227 1,569,461
Supplies and services 1,532,919 901,899 1,373,640 808,186 2,906,559 1,710,085

Depreciation expense 25,292 19,400
           

22,664 17,385 47,956 36,785

Accommodation expense 75,236 64,807
           

67,418, 58,072 142,654 122,879
Grants and subsidies      485,432 1,290,192 434,993 1,156,134 920,425 2,446,326
Other expenses 6,139 6,661 5,501 3,281 11,640 6,942
Loss on disposal of non-
current assets 1,807

                          
-

             
1,620                     - 3,427

                    
-

Total Cost of Services 3,152,738 3.107,693 2,825,150 2,784,785 5,977,888 5,892,478

Income

Other revenue 166,365 65,307 149,078 58,522 315,443 123,829

Total Income other than 
income from State 
Government

166,365 65,307 149,078 58,522 315,443 123,829

NET COST OF SERVICES 2,986,373 3,042,386 2,676,072 2,726,263 5,662,445 5,768,649

INCOME FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT

Service Appropriation 
                    

981,491 981,491
                      

879,509 879,509
                    

1,861,000 1,861,000
Resources received free of 
charge

                      
10,373 7,677 9,295 6,879 19,668 14,556

Grants received from State 
Government Agencies - 1,898,640 - 1,701,360 - 3,600,000
Royalties for Regions Fund      563,000 1,372,630 1,393,304 3,817,926 1,067,500 2,603,000

Total Income from State 
Government 1,554,864 4,260,630 1,393,304 3,817,926 2,948,168 8,078,556

Surplus/(deficit)	for	the	
period

         
(1,431,509) 1,218,244 (1,282,768) 1,091,663 (2,714,277) 2,309,907
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(c)  Reporting Entity
The reporting entity is the Wheatbelt Development Commission.

(d)	Contributed	Equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 “Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities" requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or 
prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have 
been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 ' Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities' and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

Transfers of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-
discretionary and non-reciprocal.

 

1 Australian	equivalents	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards

General
The Wheatbelt Development Commission's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards ‘refers to Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Commission has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption standards
The Wheatbelt Development Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements'. No Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective have been 
early adopted by the Commission for the annual reporting period 30 June 2013.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)    General Statement
The Commission is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions. Several of these 
are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary the application, disclosure, format and wording.  

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in individual notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

Note 3 'Judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Commission's accounting policies' discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Commission's accounting policies resulting in the most 
significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4  'Key sources of estimation uncertainty' discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources 
of uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration, received or receivable. The following specific recognition criteria must also 
be met before revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in which the Commission gains control of the
appropriated funds. The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account 
or credited to the 'Amounts receivable for services' (holding account) held at Treasury. (See note 14 Income from State 
Government).
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Commission obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when 
the cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Commission obtains control over the 
funds. The Commission obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Commission's bank account.
Gains

Realised and unrealised are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets 
and some valuations of non-current assets.
 
(f)	Property	Plant	and	Equipment
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Income Statement (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total)
Initial recognition and measurement

All items of plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Depreciation of non-current assets

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner that reflects the 
consumption of their future economic benefits.  Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually.  Useful lives for each class of depreciable assets are:

Computing Equipment and 
software 2 to 7 Years 
Office Equipment 3 to 6 Years 
Furniture 5 to 7 years 
Other Assets - Leasehold 
Improvements 10 to 15 years 

  (g) Intangible Assets

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising assets is expensed (amortised) over 
their useful lives. Costs incurred below this threshold are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the 
date of acquisition.
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The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight 
line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life and zero 
residual value. The expected useful lives of each class of intangible assets are:

Software 3 to 5 years 
Licences Up to 10 years 

Computer Software

Software that is an integral part of related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of 
the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.
Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when 
they may be capitalised or amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and 
ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent 
that they represent probable future economic benefits that can reliably measured, are capitalised.

Licences

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(h) Impairment of Assets
Plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each balance sheet date. Where there is an 
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, The 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Commission is 
a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's value less 
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at each balance 
date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment,

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated or where the 
replacement cost is falling. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of an asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from the falling 
replacement costs.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where the fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement 
cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at each reporting period.

Refer to note 21 'Impairment of assets' for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
Refer also to note 16 ' Receivables' and 2(n) 'Receivables for impairment of receivables'.

(i) Leases
The Commission has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for office buildings and vehicles where the lessons
effectively retain the entire risks and benefits incident to ownership of the items held under the operating leases.  Equal instalments of the 
lease payments are charged to the Income Statement over the lease term, as this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived 
from the leased property.

(j) Financial Instruments
In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Commission has two categories of financial instrument:                                                          

- Loans and receivables; and  
- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

 Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
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- Financial Assets
- Cash and equivalents
- Restricted cash and cash equivalents
- Receivables
- Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
- Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value, which normally equates to the transaction cost or the 
face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.
(k)	Cash	and	Cash	Equivalents
For the purpose of the  Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent  (and restricted cash  and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts.
(l) Accrued Salaries
Accrued salaries (see Note 22 “Payables") represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the 
end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled 
within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Commission considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to 
its net fair value.
(m) Amounts Receivable for Services ( Holding Account)
The Commission receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of services. The 
appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of 
the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and asset replacement. 
See also note 14 ‘Income from State Government” and note 17 “Amounts receivable for services”
(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. 
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the 
Commission will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 
days.
See note 31 'Financial Instruments' and note 16 ' Receivables'.
(o) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as they are generally settled within 30 days.
See note 30 ' Financial Instruments' and note 22 'Payables'.
(p) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is a probable and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed annually at each reporting period.
See note 23 'Provisions'.
(i) Provisions - Employee Benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period.
Annual Leave

The liability for annual leave are expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Annual leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting period is measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer super contributions. In addition, the long service liability also considers the experience of employee
departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The provision for annual leave is classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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(ii)	Provisions	- Other

Employment on-costs, including worker's compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as 
liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of 
'Other expenses' and are not included as part of the Commission's 'Employee benefits expense'.

Employment on-costs

The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'.
See note 23 'Provisions'.

(q)	Superannuation	Expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), WSS and the GESBS.
See note 14 'Income from State Government'.

 

The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and measured 
at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long Service Leave

Long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting period is measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expect future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer super contributions. In addition, the long service liability also considers the experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance 
sheet date on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. Conditional long service leave provisions 
are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability 
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public sector superannuation arrangements in Western 
Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or 
the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, 
apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB extinguishes the agency's obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and 
the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members, who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the 
Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Commission to the GESB.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes 
became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on 
or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation 
schemes. The Commission makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability 
for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the Treasurer for the 
employer's share.
See also note 6 ' Employee benefits'.
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(r) Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Value
Resources received free of charge or for nominal value that can be reliably measured are recognised as income, and as assets or 
expenses as appropriate, at fair value. Where the resource received represents a service that the Commission would otherwise pay
for, a corresponding expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
See note 14 'Income from State Government'.

(s) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

(t) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with receivables or payables in the balance sheet. The GST component of a 
receipt or payment is recognised on a gross basis in the statement of cash flows.

Judgements	Made	by	Management	in	Applying	Accounting	Policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Commission evaluates these judgements 
regularly.

     Operating lease commitment
The Commission has entered into commercial leases and has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the property. Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease.

     Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Employee provisions estimation
In the calculations for employee provisions there are several estimations which are made. These include future salary rates and the 
discount rates used. The salary rates used for the valuation at 30 June reflect the then current employer offer. There is uncertainty in 
the outcome of the negotiations that could further increase the employee provisions (and a subsequent increase in expense in the 
Income Statement).

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Commission long service leave provision include expected future salary 
rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
 

Disclosure of Changes in Accounting Policy and Estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations effective 
for annual reporting periods on or after 1 July 2011 that impacted on the Commission:

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2012 that impacted on the Authority

AASB 
2011-
9

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 
112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049]

This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially 
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently
There is no financial impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Commission has not applied early any of 
the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Commission. Where applicable, 
the Commission plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for reporting periods beginning 
on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
1-Jan-15

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and 
Transition Disclosures amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1-Jan-14

This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
11 Joint Arrangements 1-Jan-14

This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1-Jan-14

This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement 1-Jan-13
AASB 
119 Employee Benefits 1-Jan-13

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the recognition, presentation and 
disclosure requirements.
The Commission does not have any defined benefit plans, and therefore the financial impact will be limited to the 
effect of discounting annual leave and long service leave liabilities that were previously measured at the 
undiscounted amounts.

AASB 
127 Separate Financial Statements 1-Jan-14

This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1-Jan-14

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 1-Jul-13

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting 
requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
1055 Budgetary Reporting 1-Jul-14
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This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, the circumstances in which they are to be included 
in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the GGS. The Commission will be 
required to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances between actual and 
budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

AASB 
2010-2 1-Jul-13

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 
5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 
140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052]

AASB 
2010-7 1-Jan-15

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 
101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 
127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.
AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The Commission has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
2011-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project –
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054] 1-Jul-13
This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single 
Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced 
disclosure reporting. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2011-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method and 
Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131] 1-Jul-13
This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate consolidation by 
removing the requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate 
parent entity to be IFRS compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate or 
intermediate parent entity comply with Australian Accounting Standards or Australian Accounting Standards –
Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2011-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 
16 & 17] 1-Jan-13
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 
Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit 
entities it applies to annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The Commission has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
2011-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 
2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132] 1-Jan-13
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2011-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 
124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14] 1-Jan-13
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of 
issuing AASB 119 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 1-Jul-13

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 
119 (September 2011). There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2012-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Measurement - Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
[AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141] 1-Jul-13
This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for additional and amended disclosures 
arising from AASB 13 and the consequential amendments implemented through AASB 2011-8. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 
2012-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132] 1-Jan-13
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an 
entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of 
set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s 
financial position. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2012-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 
132] 1-Jan-14
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This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of 
the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and 
that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 
2012-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 
101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2] 1-Jan-13
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
consequence of the annual improvements process. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2012-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition 
Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8] 1-Jan-13
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015. Further 
amendments are also made to consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 
January 2015 and to consequential amendments arising out of the Standards that will still apply from 1 January 
2013. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2012-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 
101 & 127] 1-Jul-13
This Standard adds to or amends the Australian Accounting Standards to provide further information regarding 
the differential reporting framework and the two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general financial 
statement. There is no financial impact.

AASB 
2012-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 
8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, & 2011-7
and Int 12] 1-Jan-13
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related Standards to revise the transition guidance relevant 
to the initial application of those Standards, and to clarify the circumstances in which adjustments to an entity’s 
previous accounting for its involvement with other entities are required and the timing of such adjustments.

The Standard was issued in December 2012. The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 
2012-11

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Other Amendments 
[AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 2011-4] 1-Jul-13
This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements (Tier 2). These corrections ensure that the Standards reflect decisions of the AASB regarding the 
Tier 2 requirements.
This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation and the equity method (in the new Consolidation and 
Joint Arrangements Standards) to entities complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.
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2013 2012
$ $

6 Employee benefits expenses

Wages and salaries (a) 1,568,182 1,259,817 
Superannuation - defined contribution 
plans (b) 148,017 107,180 
Long Service Leave (c) 42,088 39,422 
Annual Leave (c) 136,951 106,921 
Other Related Expenses 49,989 56,121 

1,945,227             1,569,461

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the 
fringe benefits tax component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid).
(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component.

Employee on-costs such as workers compensation insurance are included at note 11 'Other expenses'

The related on-costs liability is included in 'Provisions' at Note 23.

7 Supplies and Services

Consultants 2,420,673
             

1,192,832 
Advertising and promotion 21,272 78,841 
Travel - Interstate and overseas 5,900 6,763 
Communication 40,334 36,809 
Consumables 114,446 92,057 
Maintenance 57,869 37,092 
Other Staff Costs 75,219 72,182 
Operating Lease - Vehicles 53,277 70,721 
Other Administration Expense 117,569 122,788 

             
2,906,559

           
1,710,085

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

Office Equipment 6,840 6,840 
Communications 2,104 2,104 
Computer Hardware 11,385 -
Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings 20,234 20,448

Total depreciation 40,563                  29,392
Amortisation
Licences 2,848 2,848
Computer Software 4,545 4,545
Total amortisation 7,393 7,393

Total depreciation and amortisation 47,956 36,785
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2013 2012
$ $

9 Accommodation expense
Lease rentals 75,828 85,569
Repairs and maintenance 12,612 7,981
Other accommodation expense 54,214 29,329

142,654 122,879

10 Grants and subsidies expense

Australia's Coral Coast - 2,500 
Avon Community Development Foundation - 100,000
Avon Business Alliance - 65,000
Avondale Farm Project Association Inc 20,000 
Avon Valley Greyhound Association 53,025 30,000 
Avon Valley Community & Family Services 25,000            -
Benedictine Community of New Norcia 101,500 10,000 
Buntine Primary School - 100,0000
C Y O'Connor College of TAFE 50,000 -
Central Division of Wheatbelt GP Inc - 50,000 
Central Midlands Speedway 15,000 -
Child Australia Inc - 70,000
Darren & Lyn Smith             - 50,000
Directions           76,250 10,000
Doorways Inc - 12,821   
Employment Law Centre of WA 10,000              -
Essential Personnel - 10,000
Gravity Discovery Centre                   37,540
Holyoake Wheatbelt Community Drug Service 
Team                   - 80,000
Hutton & Northey Sales                   12,500   
IASKA 1,871
Museums Australia (WA) - 7,788
Northam Trotting Club 12,900 -
Ngala Community Services - 23,787
North  Eastern Wheatbelt Regional Organisation 
of Councils 23,787 -

Northam Avon Descent Association - 30,000
Northam Chamber of Commerce - 20,000
Northam Harness Racing Club Inc. - 10,000-
Prepais Ascent Pty Ltd - 50,000
Shire of Beverley - 7,346
Shire of Brookton 7,346 -
Shire of Cuballing - 120,000
Shire of Cunderdin 75,000 21,121
Shire of Dalwallinu 9,616
Shire of Dandaragan 9,616 56,604
Shire of Dowerin 51,604 -
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2013 2012
$ $

Grant and Subsidies expenses continued
Shire of Dumbleyung - 34,500
Shire of Goomalling 32,866 163,122
Shire of Kellerberrin 20,974 130,000
Shire of Koorda - 29,968
Shire of Kulin 15,968 -
Shire of Lake Grace - 15,000
Shire of Merredin 15,000 12,430
Shire of Narrogin - 18,000
Shire of Tammin - 145,000
Shire of Wagin - 19,599
Shire of Wandering 19,599 4,695
Shire of Wickepin 88,990
Shire of Williams 48,990 300,000
Shire of Wongan-Ballidu 150,000 100,000
Shire of Wyalkatchem - 7,852
Shire of Yilgarn 19,685
St John Ambulance Association (WA) Inc - 13,610
Town of Narrogin - 28,750
University of WA - 135,000
Volunteering WA - 72,000
Western Australian Country Health Services 36,000 -
Wave Rock Enterprises 40,000 -
Western Australia Symphony Orchestra - 20,000
West Midlands Group - 12,000
Westonia Community Resource Centre - 20,000
Wheatbelt Catchment Alliance - 22,090
Wongan Arts Society - 5,050
Wheatbelt Community Legal Centre 10,000 -

             
920,425 2,446,326
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11 Other expenses
2013

$
2012

$
Other expenses (a) 11,640 6,942
(a) includes workers compensation insurance and other 
employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the 
recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at 
note 23 Provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part 
of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not 
included in employment on-costs. 

                     
11,640 6,942

12 Other revenue

GEHA rentals
                  

16,080
             

13,996 

Recoup of expenses
                

108,180
             

109,893
Other Revenue                 

118.562 -

Total Other Revenue
                

315,443 123,829

13 Net gain (loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Furniture, fixtures & fittings -

(3,427)Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Furniture, fixtures & fittings

(3,427) -
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14 Income from State Government
2013

$
2012

$
Appropriation revenue received during the 
year

Services Appropriations (a)
             

1,861,000 1,861,000 
             

1,861,000 1,861,000 
Resources received free of charge (b) 

Determined on the basis of the following 
estimates provided by agencies:

Department of Finance
                  

19,668              14,556
                  

19,668              14,556
Grants received from other State Government Agencies (c)

Tourism Western Australia              -
                        

200,000
Department of Regional Development and Lands              - 3,400,000

- 3,600,000
Royalties for Regions Fund

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account (c) 250,000 1,440,000

Community Services Fund (c)
                

517,500 863,000
Country Local Government Fund (c) 300,000 300,000

1,067,500 2,603,000

Total Income From State Government
             

2,948,168 8,078,556

(a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. The appropriation 
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the 
depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for a nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the 
assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not 
donated. Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to 
equity.

(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching 'Royalties for Regions Fund'. The recurrent funds are committed to 
projects and programs in WA regional areas.
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2013 2012
$ $

15 Restricted	cash	and	cash	equivalents
Heartlands WA - Maximise Benefits in State's Boom                   - 28,822
Muresk              13,020 13,020 
Wheatbelt Regional Development Scheme              26,390 115,000
Shire of Lake Grace - Education Planning Initiative                5,604             5,604 
Royalties for Regions - Contestable Grants           (27,748) 104,960
Royalties for Regions - Strategic Reserve 722,660 1,258,910
Royalties for Regions - Small Value Grants              66,969 71,664
Shire of Dandaragan - Central Coast Strategy                4,553 3,525
Wheatbelt Health Initiative - Memorandum of Understanding Group 950 2,500
Wheatbelt Regional Development Scheme - Non-contestable              31,083 35,560
Avon Development Unit 25,000 477,224
Tourism WA - Tourism Development Officer              40,452 126,895
Tourism WA - Industry Capacity Building                2,979 20,000
Tourism WA - Upgrade Central Wheatbelt Tourism Website - 15,000
Avon Water Re-use           9,63,961 2,837,204
Country Local Government Fund No.2 - 32,116
Avon Business Alliance             70,000 100,000
SuperTowns                 - 164,823-
Central East Aged Care Solution              10,223 35,842
Volunteering WA - Better Connections              38,342 52,600
Jurien Bay SuperTowns (1,869) -
GST payment awaiting recoup from ATO (102,324) -
Regional Investment Blueprint & Database 39,948 -
Whole of Wheatbelt Aged Care Planning 203,559 -
WDC – Capacity Building Plan (9,516) -
Statewide Ageing in Place Strategy 7,500 -
Wheatbelt Housing Business Case 50,000 -
Unspent Capital Expenditure carried over             20,000 20,740

          
2,201,736 5,522,009

These funds represent the unexpended portion of grants received which are required to be used for specific 
projects, and to which conditions are attached.

Receivable               15,982 53,432
GST receivable              142,636 103,944

             158,618 157,376

17 Amounts receivable for services

Current                19,000 29,000 
Non-Current                80,000 70,000 

               99,000 99,000 

Represents the non-cash component of services appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for 
asset replacement or payment of leave liability.



168

 

Notes of the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

2013
Furniture, fixtures & fittings

$ 

2012

$ 

Carrying amount at start of year 145,499 165,947 

Transfer                -                 -

Additions                 -                       

Work in Progress -                                        -

Loss on disposal of other assets (3,427)

Depreciation expense (20,233) (20,448)

Carrying amount at end of period
              

121,839
              

145,499

Computer hardware

Carrying amount at start of year 12,204                -
Transfer                 -                -
Additions 81,969                 -
Work in Progress (12,204) 12,204 
Depreciation expense (11,385)                -

Carrying amount at end of period                70,584                12,204

                             
200,541

                             
174,766

20 Intangible asset 2013 2012
$ $

Computer software

At cost 39,514 39,514

WIP Computer software at cost 0 2,749

Accumulated amortisation (35,348) (30,803)
               74,166                11,460

Licenses

At cost 29,113 29,113

Accumulated amortisation (26,264) (23,416)
               2,849                5,697

Total intangible asset                7,015                17,157
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2013
Furniture, fixtures & fittings

$ 

2012

$ 

Carrying amount at start of year 145,499 165,947 

Transfer                -                 -

Additions                 -                       

Work in Progress -                                        -

Loss on disposal of other assets (3,427)

Depreciation expense (20,233) (20,448)

Carrying amount at end of period
              

121,839
              

145,499

Computer hardware

Carrying amount at start of year 12,204                -
Transfer                 -                -
Additions 81,969                 -
Work in Progress (12,204) 12,204 
Depreciation expense (11,385)                -

Carrying amount at end of period                70,584                12,204

                             
200,541

                             
174,766

20 Intangible asset 2013 2012
$ $

Computer software

At cost 39,514 39,514

WIP Computer software at cost 0 2,749

Accumulated amortisation (35,348) (30,803)
               74,166                11,460

Licenses

At cost 29,113 29,113

Accumulated amortisation (26,264) (23,416)
               2,849                5,697

Total intangible asset                7,015                17,157
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Reconciliations:
2013 2012

$Computer Software $

Carrying amount at start of year 11,460 13,257
Transfer (2,750) -
Additions - 0
Work in Progress - 2,748
Amortisation expense (4,544) (4,545)

Carrying amount at end of period                4,166                11,460

Licenses
Carrying amount at start of year 5,697 8,545
Transfer - -
Additions - 0
Amortisation expense (2,849) (2,848)

Carrying amount at end of period                2,848                5,697

               7,014                17,157

21  Impairment of assets

There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment, and intangible assets at 
30 June 2013.

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting 
period.  At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.
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2013 2012
$ $

Reconciliations	 of	 the	 carrying	 amounts	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 at	 the	 beginning	 and	 end	 of	 the	
reporting	period	are	set	out	below:

2013
Office 

Equipment	
Plant & 

Machinery 
Computer 
Hardware 

Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings Communications Totals 
Carrying amount at 
the start of the year             13,031

                         
- 12,204                   145,499                    4,032 174,766

Additions                        -                     - 81,969                    -                               -                    -   
Work in Progress (12,204) (12,204)
Disposals                        -                    -             -                   -                             -                   -
Depreciation              (6,841)                     - (11,385)   (20,233)                 (2,104) (40,563)
Write-off of assets                       -                    -             - (3,427)                             -                    -   
Carrying amount at 
the end of the year

                  
6,190

                         
- 70,584

          
121,839

                     
1,928 200,541

2012
Office 

Equipment	
Plant & 

Machinery 
Computer 
Hardware 

Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings Communications Totals 
Carrying amount at 
the start of the year 19,871                    -                -   165,947                   6,136            
Additions                        -                    -   -                   -                             -                    -   
Work in Progress 12,204 12,204 
Disposals                        -                    -                 -                      -                               -                    -   
Depreciation              (6,840)                    -                 -   (20,448)               (2,104)
Write-off of assets                        -                     -                 -                      -                               -                    -   
Carrying amount at 
the end of the year

                  
13,031

                       
-

                
12,204

          
145,499

                     
4,032 174,766
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2013 2012
$ $

22 Payables

Trade payables               24,277 314,923
Unexpended grant 
monies (a)              93,167 237,478
Accrued Expense             311,746 641,261
Accrued salaries and allowances 36,618 30,963

4,65,778
           

1,224,625

(a) Grants internally administered by the Commission

23 Provisions

Current: 
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 165,334 127,488
Long service leave (b) 88,057 78,893
Purchased Leave 3,096 0

256,487 206,381

Other Provisions
                            

-                       -
Employment On-costs (c)                22,805 17,076

279,292 223,457
Non-current:
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)               60,947 51,476

60,947 51,476
Other Provisions

Employee On-costs (c)
                 

10,671 9,819
10,671 9,819

              71,618 61,295

Total employee entitlements 350,910 284,752

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of 
the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of balance sheet date            165,334 127,488
More than 12 months after balance sheet date                        - -

                
165,334 127,488

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:

(c) Purchased leave scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of liabilities is expected to 
occur as follows:

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs 
including workers compensation insurance.  The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The 
associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in Note 11 ‘Other expenses.
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2013 2012
$ $

Within 12 months of balance sheet 
date 3,098 -

                
3,096 -

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment 
on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected 
future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is 
disclosed in note 10 'Other expenses'.

Movement in Other Provisions

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of year
                  

26,895 29,744

Additional provisions recognised
                  

6,581 20,283
Payments/other sacrifices of economic 
benefits -

           
(23,132)

Carrying amount at the end of year
                  

33,476 26,895

24 Other Liabilities

Accrued superannuation
                     

1,368 1,104

Board Members' annual sitting fees and allowances
                  

14,823 11,940
                  

16,191 13,044

25 Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Commission. The Government holds the 
equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community.

Contributed	Equity

Balance at start of year
                  

75,000 
             

75,000 

Contributions by owners
                            

-                       -

Distribution to owners
                            

-                       -

Balance at end of year
                  

75,000 
             

75,000 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)	(Retained	earnings)

Balance at start of year
             

4,603,894 2,293,987

Net assets transferred to Government 
(b)

                
(2,714,277) 2,309,907

Balance at end of year 1,889,617 4,603,894
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2013 2012
$ $

26 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of Cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related 
items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 130,586 183,437
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
(refer to note 18) 2,201,736 5,522,009

             2,332,322 5,705,446

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services            (5,662,445) (5,768,648)

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense                   47,956 36,785
Resources received free of charge                   19,668 14,556
Net gain/(loss) on sale of plant and 
equipment 3,427                       -

(Increase)/Decrease in assets:
Current receivables 37,450 (48,170)
Other current assets                  47,570 (47,103)

Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities
Current payables (758,847)            775,598
Current provisions 55,835 (12,670)
Other current liabilities 3,147 5,065
Non-current provisions 10,323 (19,474)

Net GST payments (177,913) (15,476)
Change in GST in 
receivables/payables                  139,221 (69,658)

Net cash provided by/(used in) 
operating activities            (6,234,608) (5,149,195)

27 Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Not later than 1 year 59,633 22,285
Later than 1 and not later than 5 years 28,550 863

                  88,183              23,148

This relates to the lease of eight (8) motor vehicles ranging between terms of 12 months to 36 months 
through Fleet Australia.
The Wheatbelt Development Commission had no finance lease commitments outstanding at the end of the 
financial year.
All funds held as restricted cash were committed for expenditure within one year.
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28 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
The Wheatbelt Development Commission had no contingent liabilities or contingent assets at 30 June 2013.

29 Events occurring after reporting date

There were no events that occurred after the reporting date that impact on the financial statements.

30 Explanatory Statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense are shown below. Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $20,000.

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for the financial year.

2013 2013
Budget Actual 

Expenses
Employee benefits expenses 1,375,000 1,945,227
Grants and subsidies 2,813,000 920,425
Supplies and services 354,000 2,906,559

Accommodation 103,000 
          

122,879 

Income 1,817,000 1,861,000

Contributions received from various Local Governments and Regional Development Australia ($272,500) to the Whole of 
the Wheatbelt Aged Care Planning project. Grants received from State Govt agencies

Total Income 33,000 315,443

Employee Costs
Expenditure budgeted on externally funded projects initially were costed to grants and supplies, however, some of the 
work was completed in house by contract staff, contributing to the over expenditure of employee services.

Grants and 
subsidies

Expenditure budged on externally funded projects initially were costed to grants and supplies, however, some of the work 
was completed in house by contract staff, contributing to the over expenditure of employee services and also some of 
those projects were outsourced to consultants.
Supplies and 
services

Expenditure budgeted on externally funded projects initially were costed to grants and supplies, however the Avon Water 
Re-use project, contributed to $2.212m of the year’s expenditure.
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Significant variations between actual results for 2012 and 2013

2013 2012
$ $

Expenses
Employee benefits 945,227 1,569,461
Grants and subsidies 920,425 2,446,326
Supplies & services 2,906,559 1,710,085

Income 315,443 123,829
Total Income
Contributions received from various Local Governments and Regional Development Australia ($272,500) to the Whole of 
the Wheatbelt Aged Care Planning project which were in excess of the previous year. Conversely, there was a decrease 
in returns of unspent grant monies of the Wheatbelt Regional Development Scheme.
Employee benefits

Expenditure budgeted on externally funded projects initially were costed to grants and supplies, however, some of the 
work was completed in house by contract staff, contributing to the over expenditure of employee services.

Grants & subsidies
Expenditure budgeted on externally funded projects initially were costed to grants and supplies, however, some of the 
work was completed in house by contract staff, contributing to the over expenditure of employee services and some of 
those projects were outsourced to consultants

Supplies and Services

Expenditure budgeted on externally funded projects initially were costed to grants and supplies, however, the Avon 
Water Re-use project, contributed to $2.212 m of the year’s expenditure.  This project was commenced in 2011’12 for 
part of the year and continued into 2012’13 for the full year.

31 Financial Instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives & Policies

Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, Treasurer’s advances, receivables, and 
payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission’s overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission's receivables defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Commission. The Commission measures credit risk on a fair value basis 
and monitors risk on a regular basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance sheet date in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is 
the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of impairment as shown in the table at Note 31 (c) ‘Financial 
disclosures’ and Note 16 ;Receivables’..

Credit risk associated with the Commission's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding). For receivables other than government, the Commission trades only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties.  The Commission trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Commission 
has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Commission’s 
exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.
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2013 2012
$ $

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents
                

130,586 183,437
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,201,736 5,522,009
Receivables (a) 15,982 53,432
Amounts receivable for 
services 99,000 99,000
Financial Liabilities
Payables             465,778 1,224,625 
(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures

Credit risk, Liquidity Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposure

The following table details the exposure to liquidity risk and interest rate risk as at the balance sheet date. The Commission's maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown on the following table. The 
table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate

Fixed Interest Rate Maturities

Within 1 
Year

1 - 5
Years

More 
than 5 
Years

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total

2013 % $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
                           

-
                       

-
                

-
                      

-              130,586 130,586
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

                           
-

                       
-

                
-

                      
- 2,201,736 2,201,736

Receivables
                           

-
                       

-
                

-
                      

- 15,982 15,982
Amounts receivable for 
services

                           
-

                       
-

                
-

                      
-               99,000 99,000

            -              -   -   2,447,304 2,447,304
Financial  Liabilities

Payables
                           

-
                       

-
                

-
                      

-            465,778 465,778
                       

-
                

-
                      

-             465,778 465,778

                       
                

-
                      

- 1,981,526 1,981,526

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Commission is 
exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The Commission has appropriate 
procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure 
that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments

Market Risk

The Commission does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Commission 
is not exposed to interest rate risk because cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and 
have no borrowings.

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at
the balance sheet date are as follows:
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31 Financial Instruments (cont'd)

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate

Fixed Interest Rate Maturities

Within 1 
Year

1 - 5
Years

More 
than 5 
Years

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total

2012 % $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

                           
-

                       
-

                
-

                      
-

                  
183,437 183,437

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

                           
-

                       
-

                
-

                      
-

               
5,522,009 5,522,009

Receivables                            
-

                       
-

                
-

                      
- 53,432 53,432

Amounts receivable for 
services

                           
-

                       
-

                
-

                      
- 99,000 99,000

                       
-

                
-

                      
- 5,857,878 5,857,878

Financial  Liabilities

Payables
                           

-
                       

-
                

-
                      

- 1,224,625 1,224,625
                       

-
                

-
                      

-
                  

1,224,625 1,224,625

                       
-

                
-

                      
- 4,633,253 4,633,253

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are 
recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes.

32 Remuneration and Retirement Benefits of Accountable Authority and Senior Officers

Remuneration of Board Members of the Accountable Authority
The number of members of the Accountable Authority whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other 
benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

0 - $10,000
                             

10                        8

$10,001-$20,000
                            

1                        -

$20,001-$30,000
                             

- 2
$30,001 - $40,000 1 -
The total remuneration of the members 
of the Accountable Authority is:                   85,710 86,094

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of 
members of the Accountable Authority.  No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension 
Scheme.
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2013 2012
$ $

32 Remuneration and Retirement Benefits of Accountable Authority and Senior Officers (cont'd)

Remuneration of Senior Officers

The number of Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority, whose 
total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands:
$150,001-$160,000                               1
$200,001-$210,000 1
The total remuneration of senior officers 
is :

                
204,775 156,645

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of 
Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority.  No Senior Officers 
are members of the Pension Scheme.

33 Remuneration of Auditor

Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as 
follows;

- Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators

                  
19,600 

             
19,200 

                  
19,600 

             
19,200 

34 Affiliated Bodies

Avon Industrial Park Advisory Board                   
17,568 25,384

The Avon Industrial Park Advisory Board is a Ministerially appointed government affiliated body and it received 
administrative support and all administrative funding from the Wheatbelt Development Commission.  The Avon 
Industrial Park Advisory Board is not subject to operational control by the Wheatbelt Development Commission.  
The expenses of the Board have been included in the financial statements as part of the Commission's operations.
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